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Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Strategic Report
For the year ended 31 December 2022

The Directors present their Strategic Report together with their report and audited consclidated financial
statements of Quantum Holding Topco Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2022. The Group is trading under the name ‘Qualitest’.

The company was incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England on 1 July 2019.
Principal activities

The Company is a holding company and the principal activity of its subsidiary undertakings is that of software
quality engineering, serving international clients from its delivery locations in the United States, United
Kingdom, Germany, Israel and India.

Results and performance

The figures set out in these financial statements are reported in USD thousands (5’000} unless otherwise
stated. The functional currency of the Group’s subsidiaries varies across the subsidiaries mainly between
United States Dollar, British Pounds Sterling, Euro, Indian Rupee and New Israeli Shekel. The results of the
Group for the current period, as set out on page 15, show a loss before tax of $69.3m (2021: a loss before tax
of $55.0m). The shareholders’ deficit of the Group as at 31 December 2022 is $191.5m (2021: $118.6m deficit).

Key Performance Indicators

The Group uses a number of metrics to manage the business:

2022 2021
Revenue $407.2m $306.1m
Operating profit $2.4m $0.7m
Headcount (average) 6,132 4,464

In 2022, the Group generated $407.2m of revenue, an increase of 33% on the prior year, This growth was
driven by a combination of strong organic revenue growth, the full year annualization of the businesses
acquired in 2021 and the in-year acquisitions of Zen Quality Assurance Private Limited and ZenQ LLC which
were completed in June 2022. The Zen Q company acguisitions extend Qualitest’s strong geographical
footprint in India and add to the Company’s NextGen capabilities in Phygital, Analytics, Blockchain, and
DevOps.

Future developments

The Group intends to continue to enhance its Quality Engineering capabilities including providing a broader
breadth of next gen services, expanding its sector expertise and investing in new delivery locations.

Long-term expectations are for significant growth in the quality assurance market and the Group is well
positioned to capitalise on this and deliver sustainable profitable growth.
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Strategic Report (continued}
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Principal risks and uncertainties

There are a number of potential risks and uncertainties which could have a material impact on the Group’s
performance and could cause actual results to differ from expected and historical results.

The Directors view the following as the principal risks to the Group:
o  Operational related risks
*  Financial related risks

Operational risk management

The Group delivers quality assurance services across a variety of different market sectors and geographic
locations including Europe, North America, Asia and the Middle East. This diversification helps to ensure the
Group is not overly reliant on any particular sector or location to generate its future growth. Such international
diversification also helps to mitigate against the risk that the Group is not able to access skilled engineersin a
particular region to meet the needs of its clients.

Due to the nature of the business, the Group is subject to the risk of cost inflation based on the economic
variables of the labour market. Accordingly, the Group puts in place appropriate pricing and commercial
governance controls to ensure that the terms of new contracts entered into adequately reflect the risks of the
new engagements. The Group also regularly monitors its internal employee KPIs and conducts reviews of its
employee remuneration policies to ensure it is able to continue to attract and retain a talented workforce.

The Group also regularly performs internal business reviews to monitor customer reiated delivery risks and
ensure mitigating actions are put in place if required. These reviews help to ensure high levels of customer
satisfaction and retention.

Financial risk management

The Group uses various financial instruments. These include foans, cash, overdraft facilities and various items
such as accounts receivable and accounts payable that arise directly from its operations. The purpose of these
financial instruments is to facilitate the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are currency risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk
and credit risk. The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments tc manage its exposure to
these risks, including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps. The
Group’s policies for managing each of these risks are summarised below.

Currency risk

The Group trades mainly in United States Dollars, British Pounds Sterling, Euros, Indian Rupees and Israeli New
Shekels. The Group’s operations have natural hedges due to revenues and costs generally being in the same
currency. During the year, the Group closed out its position on its cross currency swap and took out a non-
deliverable forward contract in order to better align the cash interest servicing requirement by currency with
the forecasted cash generation by currency.
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Strategic Report {continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Liguidity risk

The Group seeks to manage financial risk by ensuring sufficient liquidity is available in each region to meet
local obligations as they fall due and to invest cash assets safely. The Group uses a combination of its
acquisition / capex facility of $129 million, multicurrency revolving credit facility of $40 million, local debt
facilities, intercompany loans and cash on hand to ensure in each region the Group has sufficient liquidity to
finance both growth activity and organic working capital requirements.

Interest rate risk

The Group finances its operations through a mixture of shareholder and third-party borrowings. The Group
manages interest rate risk by taking out derivative financial interest rate swaps and caps, denominated in the
currency related to the underlying facilities. The derivative financial instruments cover 34% of the drawn
facilities as of 31 December 2022 (2021: 23%). As part of the Group’s annual financial planning cycle, the Group
reviews the proportion of its borrowings that have variable interest rates and assesses whether it wishes to
take out interest rate hedges to protect against the risk of future interest rate rises, As at year end the total
Group borrowings consisted of 41% fixed rate and 59% fixed plus variable rate (2021: 44% and 56%
respectively).

Credit risk

The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and accounts receivable. The credit risk associated with cash is
limited as the counterparties have high credit ratings assigned by the international credit rating agencies. The
principal credit risk arises therefore from its accounts receivable. However, the credit risk is deemed very low
due to the nature of the clients and sectors in which the Group companies operate and the services provided.
Each trading entity is responsible for managing and analysing the credit risk of new clients before standard
payment terms and conditions are offered.

Section 172(1) statement

During the year, and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 the Directors have acted in a way which they
consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its
members as a whole, and in doing so have had regard to:

a) The likely consequences of any decision in the long term,

b} The interests of the company's employees,

¢} The need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others,

d} The impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment,

e) The desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct, and
f) The need to act fairly as between members of the company.

In particular, with reference to approval of our 5-year business plan in September 2019, we considered the
long-term impact of investment and other spending decisions on the company's future results, the interests
of employees and other stakeholders, as well as maintaining our reputation for quality provision of software
assurance services. Similarly, when evaluating potential acquisitions, the Directors considered the long-term
impact and strategic fit of the acquisitions with our existing business and stakeholders.
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Strategic Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Included in the Directors’ Report are further details about the Group’s engagement with employees and
stakeholders, environmental and social matters.

Approval
Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by Chris Wilmot, Director on 19 May 2023.

S

Chris Wilmot
Director



Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their annual report on the affairs of the Group, together with the audited consolidated
financial statements and parent company financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Directors of the Company

The directors wha served throughout the year and to the date of this report, except as noted were as follows:
Norman Merritt Ir

Christopher Wilmot

Kyle lohnston

Xavier Robert

Rajeev Mehta

Anbu Muppidathi

Patricia Lawicki (appointed 29 March 2022)

Results and Dividends

The loss after tax for the period amounted to $58.8m {2021: $61.3m). The directors declared and paid
dividends of SNil {2021: SNil).

Financial instruments

The Group finances its activities with a combination of bank loans, cash and short-term deposits, as disclosed
in note 24. Facilities are used to satisfy short term cash flow requirements. Other financial assets and
liabilities, such as accounts receivabie and accounts payable, arise directly from the Group’s operating
activities. Financial instruments give rise to foreign currency, interest rate, credit and liquidity risk. The Group
enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to these risks, including foreign
exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps. Information on how these risks
arise is set out in the above Strategic Report, as are the objectives, policies and processes for their
management.

Research and development

The research and development of the group concentrates on developing testing tools and suitable quality
assurance methods. During the period the group has incurred $4.4m (2021: $3.8m) of research and
development expenditure, of which $4.2m (2021: 53.5m) has been capitalised.

Future developments
The Group’s future developments have been reviewed in the Strategic Report on page 1.
Disabled employees

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the
candidate’s particular aptitudes and abilities are consistent with adequately meeting the requirements of the
job. Opportunities are available to disabled employees for training, career development and promotion.
Where existing employees become disabled, it is the Group’s policy to provide continuing empioyment
wherever practicable in the same or an alternative position and to provide appropriate training to achieve this
daim.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Employee consultation and engagement

The Group places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and has continued to keep them
informed on matters affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the perfermance of the
Group. This is achieved through formal and informal meetings and local newsletters. Employee
representatives are consulted regularly on a wide range of matters affecting their current and future interests.
Certain employees are incentivised through participation in an employee share scheme.

The company is also committed to being a responsibie employer and our employees are at the heart of what
we do in developing and delivering software testing services. We actively manage our peoples' performance
and provide training and coaching to ensure their continued development.

Statement of engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business relationship with the company

The company's stakeholders include its suppliers, customers, and lenders. The company values all of its
suppliers and has long-term relationships with many of these. Our company strategy aims to achieve organic
growth as well as growth-by-acquisition. In order to achieve this, we need to develop and maintain strong
customer relationships. We strive to achieve excellent customer satisfaction and seek and act on customer
feedback. The company also provides regular reporting to fenders as part of compliance. To achieve our
strategy of growth-by-acquisition, we will regularly review our bank facilities and request from lenders
increased limits as required.

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting

As the principal activity of the company’s subsidiaries is that of software quality assurance consultancy there
are very few activities engaged in by the company that result in direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions
{GHG). The below amounts are for the Group's UK operations only. The option has been taken to exclude from
the report any energy and carbon information relating to a subsidiary which the subsidiary would not itself be
obliged to include if reporting on its own account. In the UK the three notable sources of the companies
greenhouse gas emissions are (1} electricity and natural gas utilities used in the operation of our three UK
office locations, (2) energy usage of laptops, and {3) emissions associated with automobile mileage used for
business purposes. Due to COVID social distancing and travel restrictions in 2020 there was a significant
reduction in office space usage and company travel and this trend continued into early 2021. As restrictions
lifted there was an increase in travel and office usage, however, we generally continue to follow a hybrid work
maodel with more working from home than before the 2020 pandemic, increased usage of technology rather
than in person meetings and less business travel. As a result, the GHG emissions during the year continue to
be less than pre-pandemic levels. The energy usage and associated greenhouse gas emissions far the year
ended are as follows:

Year 2022 2021
UK energy use {kWh) 164,579 128,276
Scope 1 (Direct) GHG emissions (kg) - -
Scope 2 {Energy indirect) emissions {(kg) 28,332 25,370
Scope 3 (Other indirect) emissions (kg} 41,273 28,551
Intensity ratio (kg GHG/FTE?) 146 143

I FTE - average number of UK based full time equivalent employees during the year
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Directors’ Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Associated greenhouse gases have been calculated using the following methodology:

¢ kWh energy usage of office space was taken directly from utility bills received throughout the year;

e kWh energy used for laptop power outside of the UK office space was based on an average laptop’s
power consumption during a work year multiplied by the average number of UK based FTE's during
the year;

¢ kWh energy used for office space utilities and laptops was converted to GHG emisstons using the
current year published conversion tables; and

e automobile milage was taken from the total milage reimbursed to UK employees during the year and
converted to kg GHG using the current year published conversion tables.

The Qualitest Group behaves as a responsible business and seeks to have a positive impact on society and the
environment. By taking an active approach to consider Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) issues
in our business operations, we aim to reduce risks and explore new opportunities to serve our customers
interests and society at large.

Qualitest recognises that the focus on the societal impact of businesses and performance on wider ESG factors
has increased in recent years, with growing interest from a range of stakeholders including investors and
clients. We believe that the foundation for effective ESG management is robust and transparent governance
and integration of these considerations into the way that we do business. This includes alignment with our
overall strategy and embedding relevant matters into our risk management framework and our product and
service offering.

The Qualitest Group believes that its ESG Policy and initiatives will provide long-term benefits to its employees,
customers, suppliers and partners, which can and will be measured by its KPI’s. Additional work such as Carbon
Emission Reporting and Carbon Reduction Planning further add to the commitment that Qualitest has made.

The aim of the Qualitest ESG Policy will focus on the following key areas:
a) Environmental
e Environmental policy aimed at minimising carbon impact, risks of pollution and waste while
enhancing potential recycling opportunities
¢ Adherence to environmental compliance
* Waste management processes implemented across all offices
» Electronic document management across the organization
+ Third party verified carbon reporting and offset planning
b) Social
e Diversity, inclusion and human rights are main focus
* 39% female employees vs. Tech average of 25%
* Corporate social responsibilities in place across all regions
Charitable giving and engagement with local communities through funding, support and work
experience programmes with primary focus on children education (e.g. in India, UK and US)
¢) Governance
» All key locations are iSO or SOC2 certified
+ Driving ESG codes of practice throughout supplier management process
= Continuous management oversight of ESG effectiveness
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Directors’ Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Directors’ indemnities

The Group has made qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors which were
made during the year and remain in force at the date of this report.

Going concern

Details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the significant accounting policies in
the financial statements (note 3.3).

Post balance sheet events

Subsequent to the year end, the Group made an acquisition as it looks to expand its global quality assurance
capabilities.

In February 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Q Analysts, a US-based guality engineering
firm, specializing in Next-Gen technelogies. The acquisition expands the Group’s US geographical footprint
with new test-labs in California and Washington State, and facilities in key US locations. It also extends the
Group’s presence in the UK, Switzerland, India and Madagascar. This acquisition is expected to increase
annualized turnover of the Group by approximately $75 million. As of the date of these financial statements,
the Company has not yet completed the initial accounting for the business combination and therefore cannot
provide further disclosures under IFRS3 paragraph B64.

In March 2023 the Group increased its senior revolving credit facility by $20 million from $40 million to $60
miflion.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report and the financial statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent Company financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each
financial year. Under that law they have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with
UK-adopted international accounting standards and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent
Company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable law (UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that

they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of the Group’s profit

or loss for that period. In preparing each of the Group and parent Company financial statements, the directors

are required to:

¢ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

®» make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent;

e for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-
adopted international accounting standards;

s for the parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financiai statements;

e assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern; and
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* use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the parent Company’s transactions and disclose wilhi reasunable accuracy at any time the financial position of
the parent Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have
general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’ confirmations

In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report is approved:
s 5o far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the group’s and
company’s auditor are unaware; and
e they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the group’s and company’s auditor are
aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the
Companies Act 2006.

KPMG LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office. Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies
Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG LLP will therefore continue in office.

Approved by the board and signed on its behalf by:

QCbﬁ/

Chris Wilmot
Director
19 May 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF QUANTUM HOLDING
TOPCO LIMITED
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Quantum Holding Topco Limited {“the Company”) for the year
ended 31 December 2022 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Balance Sheet, Parent Company Balance Sheet, Consolidated
Statements of Changes in Equity, Parent Company statements of changes in Equity, Consolidated cash flow
Statement and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 1, 2 and 3.

In our opinion:

» the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent
Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of the Group's loss for the year then ended;

e the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards;

e the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK
accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

e the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) (“ISAs {UK)”) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under,
and are independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical
Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our
opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liguidate the Group or the Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Group
and the Company’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no
material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern
for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group’s business model
and analysed how those risks might affect the Group and Company’s financial resources or ability to continue
operations over the going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:
* we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is appropriate;
s we have not identified, and concur with the directors’ assessment that there is not, a material
uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt
on the Group or the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.,

10
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF QUANTUM HOLDING

TOPCO LIMITED (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above
conclusions are not a guarantee that the Group or the Company will continue in operation.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or conditions that
could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk
assessment procedures included:

* Enquiring of directors and inspection of policy documentation as to the Group’s high-level policies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, and the Group’s channel for “whistleblowing”, as well as
whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected, or alleged fraud.

Reading Board meeting minutes.
Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for management, directors,
and employees.

* Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert 1o any indications of
fraud throughout the audit. This included communication from the Group audit team to full scope component
audit teams of relevant fraud risks identified at the Group level and a request to full scope component audit
teams to report to the Group audit team any instances of fraud that could give rise to a material misstatement
at the Group level.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet profit targets and our
overall knowledge of the control environment, we perform procedures to address the risk of management
override of controls and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition, in particular:
e the risk that Group and component management may be in a position to make inappropriate
accounting entries;
s the risk that software testing services revenue recognized on a percentage of completion basis is
understated through manipulation of the forecast costs te complete; and
e the risk that software testing services revenue recognized on a time and materials basis is understated
through recording accrued revenue in the wrang period.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

11
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF QUANTUM HOLDING

TOPCO LIMITED (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

We performed procedures including:

s |dentifying journal entries and other adjustments to test for all full scope components and other
consolidation adjustments based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting
documentation. These included:

e Entries posted to revenue, cash, and borrowings accounts for which the other side of the
journal was posted to an unexpected account; and

» For certain components, entries which reclassify costs and income impacting the classification
of items within Income Statement categories.

e FEvaluating the business purpose of significant unusual transactions.

e Assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential
bias.

¢ Recalculating the revenue to be recognized under the percentage of completion method based on
contractual arrangements, costs incurred during the year and forecast costs to complete; and
comparing actual post year end costs to year end forecasts.

* Assessing whether revenue recognized subsequent to the year end was recognized in the correct
accounting peried.

Identifying and responding ta risks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on
the financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience, and through discussion with the
directors and other management (as required by auditing standards) and discussed with the directors and
other management the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications
of non-compliance throughout the audit. This included communication from the Group audit team to full-
scope component audit teams of relevant laws and regulations identified at the Group level, and a request for
full scope component auditors to report to the Group audit team any instances of non-compliance with laws
and regulations that could give rise to a material misstatement at the Group level.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies’ legislation), distributable profits legislation, and
taxation legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our
procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect:
health and safety, data protection laws, employment law, GDPR, and certain aspects of company legislation
recognising the nature of the Group’s activities and its legal form. Auditing standards limit the required audit
procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other
management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore, if a breach of
operational regulations is not disciosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect
that breach.

12
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF QUANTUM HOLDING
TOPCO LIMITED (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected
some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and
performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements,
the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-
compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with alt laws and regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report
The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion therecn.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether,
based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent
with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:
+ we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;
s in our opinicn the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the
financial statements; and
* in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in cur opinion:
® adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
¢ the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or
e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
¢ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on pages 8 and 9, the directors are responsible for: the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal
control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

13
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF QUANTUM HOLDING

TOPCO LIMITED (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Auditor's responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report.
Reascnable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will aiways detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstaternents can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are reguired to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Caroline Griffiths (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

Gateway House

Chandler’s Ford, Eastleigh

Hampshire S053 3TG

Date: 23 May 2023
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Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Operating profit

Finance costs
Finance income

Loss before tax
Tax credit/{expense)

Loss for the financial period

Note

Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
$'000 $’000
407,220 306,149
(269,635) (205,951}
137,585 100,198
{135,186) {99,530)
2,399 668
(75,089) {59,251}
3,431 3,592
(69,259) (54,991)
10,492 (6,355)
(58,767) (61,346)

The notes on pages 24 to 106 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

15



Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
$’000 $’000
Loss for the financial period {58,767) (61,346)
Items that may be reclassified to the income statement:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (21,121) 4917
Other comprehensive expense for the period net of tax (21,121) 4,917
Total comprehensive expense for the period (79,338) (56,429)

The notes on pages 24 to 106 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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Company number: 12077424

Non-current assets

Goodwill

Other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Trade and other receivables

Current assets

Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivailents

Total assets

Current liabilities
Borrowings

Trade and other payables
Derivative financial liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Lease liabilities

Provisions

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Trade and other payables
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities
Provisions

Total liabilities

Net liabilities

Note

11
12
13
14
16

16
24
10

17
19
24
18
23
20

17
19
18
23
20

Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
4’000 $’000
239,604 240,226
305,563 337,718
10,300 5,582
20,308 8,685
2,545 1,152
578,320 593,363
96,373 82,111
3,111 -
44,506 31,431
143,990 113,542
722,310 706,905
38,086 27,926
51,454 73,814
869 -
1,388 -
6,673 5,241
3,764 3,256
102,234 110,237
739,921 640,748
4,251 276
52,513 67,458
13,829 5,424
1,071 1,313
811,585 715,219
913,819 825,456
(191,509) (118,551)
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Equity

Share capital

Share premium

Other Reserves

Accumulated losses:

At start of period

Total comprehensive expense
attributable to owners

Total equity

Note

21
21
21

Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Consolidated balance sheet (continued)
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

12 12

1,189 1,189
10,460 3,530
(123,282) (67,240)
{79,888) (56,042)
(191,509) (118,551)

The accompanying notes on pages 24 to 106 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements of Quantum Holding Topco Limited (company number: 12077424) were approved by

the board of directors and authorised for issue on 19 May 2023. They were signed on its behalf by:

ALt

Chris Wilmot
Director
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Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Trade and nther receivables

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other payables

Total liabilities
Net liabilities

Equity

Share capital

Share premium
Other reserves
Accumulated losses:
At start of period

Total comprehensive expense attributable to owners

tquity attributable to owners of the Company

Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Note

25
16

16

19

17
19

21
21
21

28

Parent company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
$'000 $’000
140,541 140,541
16,417 b, /54
156,958 147,295
67 -
157,025 147,295
(246) -
(193,587) {(175,665)
(2,821) -
{196,654) (175,665)
(39,629) {28,370)
12 12

1,189 1,189
10,460 3,530
(33,101) (18,319)
(18,189) (14,782)
(39,629) (28,370)

The Company has taken advantage of the legal dispensation contained in Section 408 of the Companies Act
2006 allowing it not to publish a separate income statement and related notes and not to publish a separate

statement of comprehensive income.

The accompanying notes on pages 24 to 106 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements of Quantumn Holding Topco Limited (company number: 12077424} were approved by

the board of directors and authorised for issue on 19 May 2023. They were signed on its behalf by:

(HJH/

Chris Wilmot
Director
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Balance as at 1 January 2021

Loss for the financial period
Recycling to retained earnings
Other comprehensive income
for the financial period

Total comprehensive expense
for the period

Transactions with owners:
Share issue
Credit relating to share scheme

Balance as at 31 December
2021

Balance as at 1 January 2022

Loss for the financial period
Other comprehensive income
for the financial period

Total comprehensive expense
for the period

Transactions with owners:
Credit relating to share scheme

Balance as at 31 December
2022

Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Share Share Other Accumulated Total
Capital Premium Reserves losses Equity
$’000 $'000 $'000 $’000 5’000
11 1,113 3,395 (67,240) (62,721)

- - - (61,346) (61,346)

- - (387} 387 -

- - - 4,917 4,917

- - (387) (56,042) (56,429}

1 76 - - 77

- - 522 - 522

12 1,189 3,530 (123,282) {118,551)
Share Share Other Accumulated Total
Capital Premium Reserves losses Equity
$'000 $'000 $’000 $’000 $’000
12 1,189 3,530 (123,282) (118,551}

- - - (58,767) {58,767)

- - - (21,121) {21,121)

- - - {79,888) (75,888)

- - 6,930 - 6,930

12 1,189 10,460 (203,170) {191,509)

The notes on pages 24 to 106 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Balance as at 1 January 2021

Loss for the financial period
Recycling to retained earnings
Other comprehensive expense
for the financial period

Total comprehensive expense
for the period

Transactions with owners:
Share issue
Credit relating to share scheme

Balance as at 31 December
2021

Balance as at 1 January 2022
Loss for the financial period

Total comprehensive expense
for the period

Transactions with owners:
Credit relating to share scheme

Balance as at 31 December
2022

Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Parent company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Share Share Other Accumulated Total
Capital Premium Reserves losses Equity
$’000 $'000 $’000 $’'000 $’000
11 1,113 3,395 (18,319} (13,800)

- - - (15,169) (15,169}

- - (387) 387 -

- - {387) {14,782} {15,169)

1 76 - - 77

- - 522 - 522

12 1,189 3,530 (33,101) {28,370}
Share Share Other Accumulated Total
Capital Premium Reserves losses Equity
$’000 $'000 $'000 $’000 $’000
12 1,189 3,530 (33,101) {28,370}

- - - (18,189) {18,189)

- - - (18,189} (18,189)

- - 6,930 - 6,930

12 1,189 10,460 {51,290} (39,629)

The notes on pages 24 to 106 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Loss for the financial year

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of intangible assets

Amortisation of lpan fees

(Decrease)/increase in provisions

Finance costs

Finance income

Income tax (credit)/expense

Unrealised foreign exchange (gains)/losses on derivatives
Unrealised (gains)/losses

Release of contingent consideration not paid

Cash and equity settled share based payments expenses

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

(Increase) in receivables
Increase/(decrease) in payables

Cash provided by operations

income taxes paid

Net cash generated from operating activities
Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of other intangibles

Acquisition of subsidiaries {net of cash acquired)

Payment of contingent consideration

Net cash used in investing activities

Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note

13
14
12
17
20

0 o .

25

2022 2021
$'000 $'000
(58,767) {61,346)
2,648 1,610
6,814 4,527
37,369 30,391
2,512 6,425
(8) 289
71,381 49,346
(320) -
{10,492) 6,355
(2,242) -
4,764 2,752
{4,640) -
9,475 798
58,494 41,147
{17,994) (13,592)
3,318 (1,893)
43 818 25,662
{(10,577) (6,903)
33,241 18,759
{5.327) (3,114)
{5,285) (5,294)
(22,936) (134,516)
{21,326) (14,154)
{(54,874) (157,078)
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Financing activities

New bank loans raised net of loan fees

Repayment of borrowings and loan notes

Net movement on factering borrowings

Capitalised loan fees

Lease payments

Interest paid

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

The notes on pages 24 tc 106 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2022

85,803 464,216
(3,862) (279,913)
284 5,790
(954) (9,214)
(8,819) (3,516)
{35,627) (26,005)
36,825 151,358
15,192 13,039
31,431 16,945
(2,117) 1,447
10 44,506 31,431

Parent Company Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2022

The Company has no bank accounts and consequently no cash flow items to present.
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Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. General information

Quantum Holding Topco Limited (the Company} is a private company limited by shares which is incorporated
and domiciled in England in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act. The address of the registered office
is given on the Company information page. The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
Group) and the nature of the Group's operations are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 4.

These financial statements are prepared in US Dollars which is the presentational and functional currency of
the Company and rounded to the nearest thousand.

2 Change in accounting policy

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods
presented in the consolidated financial statements.

Newly adopted accounting policies

There are no new standards or amendments to existing standards that are effective that have had a material
impact on the Group, nor does the Group anticipate any new or revised standards and interpretations that are
effective from 1 January 2023 and beyond to have a material impact on its consolidated results or financial
position.

3. Significant accounting policies

3.1. Basfs of accounting

The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with UK-
adopted international accounting standards (“UK-adopted IFRS”). The Company has elected to prepare its
parent company financial statements in accerdance with FRS 101. In preparing these financial statements, the
Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of international accounting
standards in confoermity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (“UK-adopted IFRSs”), but makes
amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where
advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities
are stated at their fair value: certain financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivatives) measured at
fair value and liabilities for cash-settled share-based payments.

The Company has taken advantage of the legal dispensation contained in Section 408 of the Companies Act

2006 allowing it not to publish a separate income statement and related notes and not to publish a separate
statement of comprehensive income. The profit for the year for the parent company is described in note 28.
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Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of
the following disclosures:

e Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries ;

* Disclosures in respect of capital management;
The effects of new but not yet effective accounting standards;
Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel;
Disclosures of transactions with a management entity that provides key management personnel
services to the Company; and

As the consolidated financial statements include the equivalent disclosures, the Company has also taken the
exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:
* IFRS 2 Share Based Payments in respect of group settled share-based payments
o Certain disclosures required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and the disclosures required by IFRS
7 Financial Instrument Disclosures.

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 3.23.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

3.2 Basis of consolidation

The censolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries} made up to 31 December each year. Control over an entity exists
when the investor is exposed, or possesses rights, to variable return flows from its investment in the holding
and/or possesses rights to such return flows and has the ability to influence such returns through its power
over the entity.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power
over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Company's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:
s the size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;
e potential voting rights held by the Cempany, other vote holders or other parties;
s rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
* any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings.
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Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies {continued)

3.2 Basis of consolidation {continued)

Consclidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Company losses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the date the Company gains control
until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

The income statement and each component of other comprehensive income for the year are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting
policies used into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
the members of the Group are eliminated on consalidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s eguity therein. Those
interests of non-controlling shareholders {that are present ownership interests) that entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Subsequent to acquisition, the
carrying amount of non-controlling interest’s is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-
controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal recognised in income statement is
calculated as the difference between (i} the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest and [ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets {including goodwill), less
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to income statement or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, when applicable, the costs on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3.3 Going concern

The Directors confirm that having reviewed the group’s and parent company’s cash requirements for a period
of at least 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements (the ‘going concern assessment
period’), they have a reasonable expectation that the group and parent company have adequate resources to
continue in operational existence and to meet their liabilities as and when they fall due. The Directors have
accordingly adopted the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

The uncertainty as to the future business performance and global economy has been considered as part of the
group’s and parent company’s adoption of the going concern basis. Management have performed a thorough
scenario planning exercise and has reviewed the consolidated income statement, net current liabilities and
cash flow forecasts in conjunction with current and future financing availability.

The downside scenario is considered to be a severe but plausible scenario and was based on the base case
projections created from the Group’s 2023 budget less reduced revenue growth of 7% in 2023 continuing into
2024 and a phased in decrease in gross margin performance of 3% when compared to the base case scenario.
Management also considered the impact on profitability and cash flows, along with appropriate remedial
actions including the taiforing of the Group’s cost base to reflect the lower revenue and profit. The downside
scenario planning exercise has shown that the group and parent company are able to cperate within their
existing banking facilities and the associated covenant requirements, even under these adverse conditions, for
the going concern assessment period.

To date the group has performed in line with the base case scenario. Management’s latest forecast indicates
the group and parent company will continue to perform broadly in line with the base case scenario projection.

3.4 Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and operations which constitute a business are measured using the acquisition
method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group. The Group
has determined whether a particular set of activities and assets is a business by assessing whether the set of
assets and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive process and whether the
acquired set has the ability to produce outputs. The Group has an option to apply a ‘concentration test' that
permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. This
election can be applied on a transaction by transaction basis. The opticnal concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or
group of similar identifiable assets.

The cost of business combination is measured at the aggregate fair value (upon the exchange date) of assets
transferred, liabilities incurred and equity instruments issued by the Group in consideration of attaining control
of the acquired entity. Transaction costs directly related to the business combination, other than those
associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, shall be recognised on the income statement when
incurred.

Identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired entity, which meet the conditions for recognition pursuant to
IFRS 3 {Revised) "Business combinations"”, are recognised at fair value thereof upon the acquisition date.

27



Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Business combinations {continued)

Non-centrolling interests in the acquired entity are initially measured, upon the business combination date, at
their share of fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity, excluding their share
of goodwill.

Non-controlling interests which do not confer current equity interest, such as option warrants and the equity
component of debentures convertible into shares of the acquired entity, are presented at fair value, except for
share-based payments of the acquired entity measured upon the business combination date.

Contingent consideration with respect to business combinations, which is not classified as an equity instrument
pursuant to provisions of IAS 32 "Financial instruments: Presentaticn” is measured at fair value at acquisition
date, and in subsequent periods as well, with changes to fair value charged to the income statement. If the
contingent consideration is classified as an equity instrument, it is not re-measured in subsequent periods.

3.5 Intangible assets: Goodwill

Goodwill arising from business combinations is measured at the excess acquisition cost over Company share of
net fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the consolidated company recognised
upon the acquisition date. How goodwill is measured, in conformity with the aforementioned alternatives, is
individually determined upon each business combination.

If total Group rights in net fair value of identified assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised exceeds
the cost of business combination — the excess is immediately recognised in the income statement. Goodwill is
initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost net of accumulated impairment
loss.

For the purpose of impairment review, goodwill is assigned to each of the Group's cash-generating units for
which a benefit is expected from the business combination synergy. Goodwill is denominated in the functional
currency of the cash-generating unit to which it is allocated. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
assigned are reviewed for impairment annually or more often if signs indicate potential impairment of said unit.
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is lower than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
first assigned te reducing the carrying amount of any goodwill assigned to the cash-generating unit. Thereafter,
the balance of impairment loss, if any, is assigned to other assets of the cash-generating unit pro-rata to their
carrying amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows from each cash-generating unit are discounted to their present vaiue using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estirates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies {continued)
3.6 Revenue recognition

The Group’s principal activities are that of software quality assurance consultancy. Revenue is measured as the
fair value of consideration received or rereivable for satisfying performance obligations contained in contracts
with clients, including expenses and disbursements but excluding discounts and Value Added Tax. Staff costs
that the Group claims back from the customer are treated gross as the goods cr services giving rise to these
costs do not transfer a good or service to the customer but are used or consumed by employees within the
Group in fulfilling its performance obligation to the customer. Variable consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not be required when
the uncertainties determining the level of variable consideration are subsequently resolved. Revenue is
recognised when or as the Group satisfies performance obligations. This occurs as follows for the Group’s
various contract types:

» Time-and-materials contracts are recognised over time as services are provided at the fee rate agreed
with the client where there is an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

* Fixed-fee contracts are recognised over time based on the actual service provided to the end of the
reporting period as a proportion of the total services to be provided where there is an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date. This is determined based on the actual inputs of time
and expenses relative to total expected inputs. The Company uses judgement to determine the
forecasted resource allocations in estimating total expected inputs.

» Performance-fee contracts are recognised when the right to consideration arises on having met the
relevant performance related elements.

» Contingent-fee contracts, over and above any agreed minimum fee, are recognised at the pointin time
that the contingent event occurs, and the Group has become entitled to the revenue.

s Licence-fee contracts that provide a right to use the Group’s intellectual property (‘IP’), as it exists at
the date the licence is granted, are recognised at the point in time that the licence agreement is entered
into and the licensee is able to use and benefit from the licence. Licence-fee contracts that provide a
right of access to the Group’s IP, as it exists throughout the licence period, are recognised over time on
a straight line basis to reflect the pattern in which the benefits of access transfer to the client over the
licence period.

Where contracts include multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to each
performance obligation based on its stand-alone selling price. Where these are not directly observable, they
are estimated based on expected cost-plus margin. Adjustments are made to allocate discounts proportionately
relative to the stand-alone selling price of each performance obligation. Estimates of revenues, costs or extent
of progress toward completion are revised if circumstances change. Any resulting increases or decreases in
estimated revenues or costs are reflected in the income statement in the period in which the circumstances
that give rise to the revision become known.

For time-and-materials, fixed-fee and licence-fee contracts, fees are usuzlly billed on account based on a
payment schedule.
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Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
3.6 Revenue recognition {continued)

For performance-fee and contingent-fee contracts, fees are usually billed and paid when entitlement te the
revenue has been established. If the revenue recognised by the Group exceeds the amounts billed, a contract
asset is recognised. If the amounts billed exceed the revenue recognised, a contract liability is recognised.
Contract assets are reclassified as trade receivables when billed and the consideration has become
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before payment is due.

The Group’s standard payment terms require settlement of invoices within 60 days of receipt. The Group does
not adjust the transaction prices for the time value of money as it does not expect to have any contracts where
the period between the transfer of the promised services to the client and the payment by the client exceeds
one year.

In recognising revenue under IFRS 15, Management have followed the five-step model and considered
identification of the contract with a customer; identification of performance obligations of each contract;
transaction price; allocation of transaction price to performance obligation and recognition of revenue at the
point the performance obligation has been satisfied.

3.7 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value in profit or loss where there is a reascnable
assurance that the grant will be received, and the group has complied with all attached conditions. Grants
received where the group has yet to comply with all attached conditions are recognised as a liability (and
included in deferred income within trade and other payables) and released to income when all attached
conditions have been complied with. The Group has elected to present grants as a reduction to the related
expense line.

3.8 Finance income and expenses

Financing income comprise interest receivable, interest income on lease receivables and net foreign exchange
gains. Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective
interest method. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net hasis.

Financing expenses include interest payable, finance charges on shares classified as liabilities and finance
charges on lease liabilities recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method, unwinding of the
discount on provisions, and net foreign exchange lasses that are recognised in the income statement (see
foreign currency accounting policy).
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Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies {continued)
3.9 Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of a contract. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

As a lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
agreements in which it is the lessee. For these leases, the Group recognises the payments as an operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the asset are consumed.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at commencement
date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease liability

Lease payments included in the measurement of the iease liability comprise:

» fixed lease payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

» variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at
the commencement date;

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate
early; and

* |ease paymentsin an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension
option.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the balance sheet,

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost by increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability {(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:
* thelease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate.
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¢ the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value in which case the lease liability is measured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate {unless the lease payments change is due to a change in
a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, to the extent that the right-of-use asset is reduced to nil, with any further adjustment
required from the remeasurement being recorded in profit or loss.

From 1 January 2021, where the basis for determining future lease payments changes as required by interest
rate benchmark reform, the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments
using the revised discount rate that refiects the change to an alternative benchmark interest rate.

A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, adjusted for lease payments made at or before the commencement date and any
initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. They are subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on
which it is located ar restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, a provision is recognised and measured under 1AS 37. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the shorter period of lease term and the useful
life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers cwnership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use
asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated
over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. In
addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain
remeasurements of the lease liability.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated balance sheet.

The Group applies IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.
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At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are
independent from other assets, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line “other expenses” in the income
statement.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components and instead account
for any lease and associated non-lease compeonents as a single arrangement, the Group has not applied this
practical expedient.

As a lessor

Atinception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease
or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract applying IFRS 15.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantialiy all
of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. if this is the case, then the lease is a
finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain
indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease
separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the lease
{see note 23). The Group further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating
the gross investment in the lease.

33



Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements {continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
3.9 Leases {continued)

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term as part of 'other revenue',

Lease acquired in a business combination

For leases acquired in a business combination, the Group measures the acquired lease liability at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, as if the acquired lease were a new lease at the acquisition date. The
right-of-use asset is measured at acquisition at the same amount as the lease liability, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Lease liability and associated right-of-use assets acquired in a business combination for which the lease term
ends within 12 months of the acquisition date or, leases for which the underlying asset value is low, are not
recognised.

3.10 Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each group company are presented in the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated
financial statements, the results and financial position of each group company are expressed in US dollars,
which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial
statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in the income statement in the financial period in which they arise except
for:

* exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for
future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an
adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

« exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks {see
below under financial instruments / hedge accounting); and

» exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for
which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to income statement on disposal or partial
disposal of the net investment.
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For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign
operations are translated to the Group’s presentational currency, U5 Dollar, at exchange rates prevailing on
the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
uniess exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

When a foreign operation is disposed of, such that control, joint control or significant influence (as the case
may be) is lost, the entire accumulated amount in the Foreign Currency Translation Reserve, net of amounts
previously attributed to non-controlling interests, is recycled to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation
while still retaining control, the relevant proportion of the accumulated amount is reattributed to non-
controlling interests.

3.11 Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in the income statement, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for
the business combination.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date, in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income
statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is
recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable cn the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years,

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on the temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit and is accounted tor using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition {other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and itis probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to aliow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to

items charged or credited in other comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
other comprehensive income.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liahilities on a net basis.

3.12 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment items are recognised at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and net of
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes the acquisition cost of the asset, as well as cost which is directly
attributable to getting the asset to the location and state required for its operation in the manner intended by
management.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items of property, plant and equipment.
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Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation is calculated systematically, using the straight-line method over the expected useful life of the
asset, starting on the date on which the asset is ready for its intended use, accounting for the expected residual
value at the end of its useful life,

The useful life and depreciation rates are as follows:

Depreciation

Useful life rates
Leasehold Improvements 6 - 7 years 15%
Computer Equipment 3 years 33%
Office furniture and equipment 14 - 15 years 7%

The residual value, depreciation method and useful life of the asset are reviewed by Company management on
a regular basis.

Gains or losses generated from sale or obsolescence of an asset is determined by the difference between
proceeds from its sale and its carrying amount upon the date of sale or obsclescence and is recognised in the
income statement.

Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recaverable amount of the asset is estimated. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are
independent from other assets, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit te
which the asset belongs. When a reascnable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverabie amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
fmpairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent expenditure

The replacement cost of part of an asset, which may be reliably estimated, is recognised as an increase to the
carrying amount when incurred, if the future economic benefits attributed to this item are expected to accrue
to the entity. The costs of the day-to-day maintenance are recognised on the income statement as incurred.
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3.13 Other intangible assets

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the income statement as an expense
as incurred.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives from the date they are available for use. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets

Anintangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in the income statement when
the asset is derecognised.

Trademarks

Patents and trademarks are measured initially at purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives.

Client relationships

Foliowing a business combination, the Group identifies any significant customer relationships or partnerships
which will drive future revenues. The initial value of these assets is determined using an income valuation
appreach and subsequently amortised over their estimated useful economic life.

Software

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Directly attributable costs in the creation of software products are capitalised. These costs will include software
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
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Developed technology

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design, creation and testing of identifiable and unique
assets controlled by the group are recognised as intangible assets where the following criteria are met:

» it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use;

¢ management intends to complete the asset and use or sell it;

e there is an ability to use or sell the asset;

¢ it can be demonstrated how the asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

» adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell

the asset are available; and
e the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be reliably measured.

The expenditure capitalised includes direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Other
development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and less accumulated
impairment losses. Development costs recognised as assets are amortised, starting once the asset is complete,
over their estimated useful lives.

Impairment of intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible assets tc determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss {if any}. Where
the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Anintangible asset with an indefinite usefu! life is tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there
is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Other intangible amortisation policy

Other intangible assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives:

Useful life
Client relationships 10— 17.5 years
Trademarks 10 years
Developed technology 2 - 10 years
Software 3 years

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit} is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset {(or cash-generating unit) is reduced te its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years, A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in income statement, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase,

In these financial statements the Group has amortised other intangible assets over their estimated useful
economic lives as follows:

Useful life
Client relationships 10-17.5 years
Developed technology 2 -10 years
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Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial
assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability
is initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities {cther than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit and foss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial lizbilities at fair value through income statement are recognised immediately in income statement.
A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss (FVTPL), fair value through other comprehensive income {FVOCI), and amortised cost. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired and is determined at the time of initial
recognition.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business
model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day
of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

a) Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost enly if both the following criteria are met:
e The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and
e The contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

b) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if both of the following criteria are met:
e itis held within a business model whose objective is achieved by bath collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets; and
e its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

¢) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

o All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCH as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets.

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.
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Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and
bank overdrafts. In the consolidated balance sheet, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities.

Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL - these assets {other than derivatives designated as hedging instruments) are
subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost - These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at FVOCI - these assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated
using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit
or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCl. Gn derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in
OCl are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI - these assets are subsequently measured at fair value, Dividends are recognised
as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCl and are never reclassified to profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts {including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recoghised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments. Interest paid is classified under
financing activities in the cash flow statement.

Intra-group financial instruments

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other
companies within its group, the Company accounts for them as a contingent liability until such time as it
becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.
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impairment

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses {ECLs) on financial assets measured at
amortised cost, debt investments measured at FVOCI and contract assets (as defined in IFRS 15).

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for other debt securities and
bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial
instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition, which are measured as 12-month ECL.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL. No trade receivables or contract assets have significant financing components.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both guantitative and qualitative information and analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days
past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:
e the borroweris unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held}; or
® the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months
after the reporting date {or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the
financial asset.

Credit-impaired financigl assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
securities at FYOCl are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have cccurred.
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Write-offs
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realislic prospect of recovery.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financiai asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in income statement.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety {e.g. when the Group retains an option to
repurchase part of a transferred asset), the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset
between the part it cantinues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises
on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the
carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received
for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income is recognised in the income statement. A cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised and
the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangement.

Equity instruments

Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following
two conditions:

a) they include no contractual obligations upon the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or to
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially
unfavourable to the Group; and -

b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the Group’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-
derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Group’s own equity
instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Group’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or
other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.
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3.14 Financial instruments (continued)

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where
the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Group’s own shares, the amounts presented in these
financial statements fur called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to
those shares.

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's own
equity instruments.

Financial liobilities
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid {including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is
recognised in the income statement.

The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified
liability are substantially different and a new financial liability is recognised based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value. It is assumed that the cash flows are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted
using the original effective rate is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original financial liability. If the cashflows are different by less than 10%, a qualitative
assessment is then performed.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters intc a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and
foreign exchange rate risk, including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and cross currency
swaps.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered intoc and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised
in the income statement immediately as the group has not designated any derivatives as hedging instruments.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair
value is recognised as a financia! liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current
liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised
or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.
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3.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects risks
specific to the liability,

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as a separate asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be
received if the entity settled the obligation, and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

3.16 Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are recognised if there is a present obligation and fair
value can be measured reliably at fair value at the acquisition date. At the end of subsequent reporting periods,
such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in accordance
with 1AS 37 as a provision and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with IFRS 3. The Group has no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

3.17 Employee Benefits
Defined contribution schemes

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity and will have no legat or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. The group
operates defined contribution retirement benefit schemes for all qualifying employees as required by local
legisiation. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the group in funds under the control
of trustees. Where there are employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting fully in the contributions, the
contributions payable by the group are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash

bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as
a result of past service provided by the employee and the obiigation can be estimated reliably.
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3.17 Employee Benefits {continued)

Israel and India severance scheme

Labour laws in Israel and the Severance Pay Act, 1963 require the Company to pay severance to employees
upon termination or retirement (see note 20).

In India, the Company are enrolled in a long service award and gratuity scheme where the Company will pay
out a severance amount to employees upon termination and retirement {see note 20).

3.18 Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

3.19 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less {or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

3.20 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

3.21 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent that there is no evidence that it is probable that some or ail of the facility will
be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of
the facility to which it relates.

Preference shares, which are mandatorily redeemable on a specific date, are classified as liabilities. The
dividends on these preference shares are recognised in the income statement as interest expense using the
effective interest method.

47



Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies {continued)
3.22 Share based payments

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Group receives goods or services as consideration for its own
equity instruments are acccunted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, regardless of how
the equity instruments are obtained by the Group.

The grant date fair value of share-based payments awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally
entitled to the awards. The fair value of the awards granted is measured using an option valuation model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the awards were granted. The amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of awards for which the related service and non-market
vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based
on the number of awards that do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the
vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the
share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between
expected and actual outcomes,

Share-based payment transactions in which the Group receives goads or services by incurring a liability to
transfer cash or other assets that is based on the price of the Group’s equity instruments are accounted for as
cash-settled share-based payments. The fair value of the amount payable to employees is recognised as an
expense, with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period in which the employees become
unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is remeasured at each balance sheet date and at settlement
date. Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognised as personnel expense in profit or ioss.

Where the Company grants options over its own shares to the employees of its subsidiaries it recognises, in its
individual financial statements, an increase in the cost of investment in its subsidiaries equivalent to the equity-
settled share-based payment charge recognised in its consolidated financial statements with the corresponding
credit being recognised directly in equity. Amounts recharged to the subsidiary are recognised as a reduction
in the cost of investment in subsidiary. If the amount recharged exceeds the increase in the cost of investment
the excess is recognised as a dividend. When the cost of investment in subsidiary has been reduced to nil, the
excess is recognised as a dividend/creditor.

Transactions of the group-sponsored ESOP trust are included in the group financial statements. Transactions
of the Company-sponsored ESOP trust are treated as being those of the Company and are therefore reflected
in the Company financial statements. In particular, the trust’s purchases and sales of shares in the Company
are debited and credited directly to equity.
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3.23 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements,

Cash-generating units

Management has allocated goodwill to a single group of five cash generating units. This allocation basis has
been adopted as it represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and does not exceed the size of an operating segment under the definition of IFRS 8.
The five CGUSs are based cn the group’s geographic areas of USA, UK, Israel, Germany and India. Acquisitions
in the year which were in pre-existing geographic operating regions were immediately integrated into the
Group’s centralized business model and reporting structure.

In 2021, the Group acquired new legal entities and assets across several geographies. Some acquisitions were
located in pre-existing geographic operating regions and as such were immediately integrated into the Group’s
centralized business model and reporting structure. However, two of the acquisitions were in new geographic
locations where integration to the Group’s operating model was not able to be fully implemented before year
end. As such, for 2021, management considered those two acquisitions as separate cash generating units to
which goodwill was allocated. In 2022 these business units were fully integrated and accordingly their goodwill
was allocated into the one group of five cash generating units as noted above.

Vesting period

Management must make assumptions for the non-market vesting conditions attached to the equity and cash
settled share-based payment plans both on grant date and at the reporting date. The assumed vesting period
for share-based payments of 2 years from 31 December 2022 is based on management’s judgement on when
an ‘exit event” is likely to occur, which is the sale of business that will trigger a fully vested value of the shares.
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Revenue recognition

A portion of the group revenue is generated based on a percentage completion method on a fixed fee milestone
contract. The progress of these contracts is discussed on a monthly basis with clients. The group relies on
operational managers to discuss progress with both the Group’s project managers and client project
management and agree when a performance obligation has been met and when it is appropriate to recognise
the revenue for the performance obligation. The directors are satisfied that control has been transferred and
that recognition of the revenue in the current period is appropriate.

Uncertain tax positions and transfer pricing judgements

The Group operates in 2 number of tax jurisdictions and the Group has implemented various transfer pricing
arrangements across its subsidiaries. The group seeks assistance from tax experts when developing the transfer
pricing arrangements, however, there remains a risk arising from the interpretation of complex tax
regulations, resulting in an uncertain tax position. The group recognises tax liabilities based on reasonable
estimates and judgements.

Critical estimates and assumptions in applying the group’s accountin licies
P g group g po.

The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future, The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year
are addressed below.

Acquisition accounting

Accounting for acquisitions requires a fair value exercise to assess the assets and liabilities acquired, including
any separately identifiable intangible assets. The process of determining fair values require management to
make estimates which are complex, subjective and uncertain by nature. The most significant of these assets
are customer relationships which are valued using discounted projected customer cashflows and are subject to
significant estimation uncertainty. The most significant estimation used as an input in these valuations was
customer attrition rates.

Impairment — goodwill and other intangibles

The group determines whether goodwill and other intangible assts are impaired on an annual basis or otherwise
when changes in events or situations indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. This requires an
estimation of the recaverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the assets are allocated. Estimating
the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate of the future cash flows from the cash-generating unit
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
Group has performed sensitivity analysis based on the growth assumptions used to support the carrying value
of Goodwill at the balance sheet date. See note 11 for more details.
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3.23 Critical accounting estimates and judgements {continued)
Share based payments

The Group has estimated the fair value of the shares issued to employees and cash bonus payable based on
the price of the Group’s equity instruments based on a Monte Carle model. The key inputs into the valuation
maodel, including equity value and volatility are subjective and uncertain by nature. Further details of share
based payments are disclosed in note 25.

Contingent consideration

Any deferred contingent consideration is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration is based off relevant entities meeting targets as set out per the Share Purchase Agreement or
Business Purchase Agreement. These targets are based on future business performance which are subjected to
significant estimation uncertainty. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration, which
is deemed to be an asset or liability, are recognised in either the profit or loss account or in other
comprehensive income, in accordance with IFRS 3.

Capitalisation of development expenditure

The Group capitalises internal costs of developed technology where the Directors are satisfied as to the
technical, commercial and financial viability of the individual projects. Estimation uncertainty exist when
determining whether a project is suitable for capitalisation and in determining useful economic life.
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All revenues are arising from contracts with customers (2021: all)

i. Disaggregation of revenue

An analysis of the group’s revenue is as follows:

Continuing operations
Software testing services (100% over time)

There is an immaterial balance relating to point in time revenue.

Geographical analysis of revenue by origin:

Country:
USA

UK
Germany
Israel
India
Other

2022 2021
$'000 $’000
407,220 306,149
2022 2021
$'000 $°000
155,649 114,383
54,629 47,560
23,165 10,465
124,176 103,719
49,601 29,801

- 221
407,220 306,149
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ii.  Contract balances

The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from
contracts with customers.

Note 2022 2021

5000 $'000

Trade receivables 16 72,723 58,217
Expected credit losses 16 (777) {768)
Contract assets 16 18,192 16,589
Contract liabilities 19 (1,199) -
88,939 74,038

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration for work completed but not billed at
the reporting date for time and materials contracts. The contract assets are transferred to receivables when
the rights become unconditional. The contract liabilities primarily reiate tc the advance consideration received
from customers for milestone contracts and fixed-fee contracts. The expected settlement date of contract
assets and liabilities is within 3 months.

The amount of revenue recognised in the current period from performance obligations satisfied (or partially
satisfied) in previous periods was $16.6 million {2021: 55.5 million).

Significant changes in the contract assets and the contract liabilities balances during the period are as follows:

2022 2021
$'000 $’000
Contract assets
t t ised h inni
Transfers from contr?c assets recognised at the beginning 16,589 5,487
of the period to receivables
Contract liabilities
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract (573)

liability balance at the beginning of the period
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5. Operating expense

Operating expense:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {note 13)

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12}
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 14)
Unrealised and realised FX loss

Research and development expense
Expected credit losses

6. Auditor’s remuneration

The analysis of the auditcr’s remuneration is as follows:

Fees payable to the company’s auditor for the audit of
these financial statements

Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries of the
company

Total audit fees

Non-audit services

- Corporate finance services - India

- Corporate finance services - Israel

- Corporate finance services - Germany
- Tax advisory services - India

- Other advisary - India

- Other assurance services

Total non-audit fees

2022 2021
$'000 $'000
2,648 1,610
37,369 30,391
6,814 4,527
5,400 2,752
250 274
48 18
2022 2021
$'000 5°000
738 565
112 90
850 655

70 105

- 20

- 338

- 186

2 295

12 -

84 1,004

Amounts paid to the company’s auditor and its associates in respect of services to the company, other than the
audit of the company’s financial statements, have not been disclosed as the information is required instead to

be disclosed on a consolidated basis.
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7. Staff costs

The Company does not directly employ any staff. The average number of employees for the group {including
executive directors) was:

2022 2021
Senior Management 11 20
Software testers 5,545 4,065
Sales and administration 576 379
6,132 4,464
2022 2021
$'000 $'000
Wages and salaries 248472 183,567
Social security costs 17,483 13,640
Contributions to defined contribution plans 13,522 10,615
Share based payments 9,503 798
Other employment benefits 8,355 6,397
Total 297,335 215,017
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8. Finance income and costs

Finance costs

Accrued interest on priority shares

Bank loan interest

Accrued interest on loan notes

Amortisation of loan issue costs

Interest expense on lease liabilities

Bank facility fees

Unwinding of discount

Loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss
Realised and unrealised foreign exchange loss on bank loans

Total finance costs

Finance income
Interest received
Gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss

Realised and unrealised foreign exchange gain on bank loans

Total finance income

2022 2021
$'000 $’000
17,922 15,607
34,923 24,050
11,593 11,279
2,512 6,425
699 600
495 275
156 210
4,523 805
2,266 -
75,089 59,251
2022 2021
$’000 $'000
320 24
3,111 -
- 3,568
3,431 3,592
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9. Tax

Current tax expense:
Current year
Adjustment in respect of prior periods

Deferred tax {credit)/expense:

Deferred tax {credit)/charge (see note 18)
Changes in tax rates

Adjustments for prior years

Tax (credit)/charge for the year

Reconciliation of effective tax rate:

Loss before tax

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2021: 19%)

Adjustment in respect of prior years

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable
profit

Income not taxable

Effect of rate changes

Losses not recognised

Recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax asset

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other
jurisdictions

Tax credit/(charge) for the year

2022 2021
$'000 $’000
9,666 12,654

{6,673} 5,668
2,993 18,322
(11,913} {12,284)
29 -
{1,601) 317
{(13,485) (11,967)
(10,492) 6,355

2022 2021

$'000 5’000
69,259 54,991
13,161 10,448

8274 {5,985)
(2,749) (6,296)

- 83

1,001 (9,856)

(8,466) -
- 5,779

(729) (528)

10,492 {6,355}
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9. Tax (continued)

An increase in the UK corporation rate from 19% to 25% (effective 1 April 2023) was substantively enacted on
24 May 2021. This increased the company's future current tax charge accordingly. The deferred tax
asset/liability as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 have been calculated based on these rates,
reflecting the expected timing of reversal of the related temporary differences.

10. Cash and cash equivalents

Group
2022 2021
$'000 $'000
Cash and cash equivalents 44,506 31,431

The Group had no short-term depaosits as at 31 December 2022 {2021: none). Cash at banks earns interest at
floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The Group’s credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are well established banks with high credit ratings.

Company

The Company had no cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2022 (2021: $nil).

11. Goodwill

2021 $'000
Cost

At 1 January 2021 148,320
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiaries during the period 91,642
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 264
At 31 December 2021 240,226

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021 240,226
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11, Goodwill {continued)

2022 $'000
Cost

At 1 January 2022 240,226
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiaries during the period 17,304
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (17,926)

At 31 December 2022 239,604

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 239,604

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill
might be impaired. The goodwill represents the value attributed to the assembled workforces acquired and
consideration in excess of valued assets. The current year's goodwill addition arose from the acquisition
completed in the period (see note 22 for details).

For the current year’s impairment analysis, the goodwill arising from the acquisitions were allocated to one
group of five cash generating units (CGUs). The five CGUs are based on the group’s geographic areas of USA,
UK, Israel, Europe and India. Management have determined that this composition of CGUs reflects longer-term
trends towards independent cash inflows in separate geographic areas. The total carrying amount of goodwill
attributed to the group of CGUs is $239.6m as at 31 December 2022.

For 2021 goodwill arising from three of the five acquisitions completed in 2021 were combined with the
opening goodwiil balance into a CGU group (‘Qualitest Business Unit’). The total carrying amount of goodwill
attributed to that group was 5163.0m as at 31 December 2021. The company analysed two of the 2021
acquisitions separately from the others as those businesses were reported on and monitored separately
{Telexiom AG CGU and ‘QAISSPL’). This separation is primarily due to managements wish to ensure sufficient
visibility and focus on these entities in their first year of ownership; these entities were fully integrated with
the remainder of the group in 2022. The carrying amount of goodwill attributed to these as at 31 December
2021 was 577.3m.

Goodwill is tested for impairment by quantitatively comparing the fair values of the cash generating units to
their carrying amount. The estimated fair values were calculated by using an income approach supported by
the value in use discounted cash flow model. This valuation approach considered a number of factors that
include, but are not limited to, prospective financial information, growth rates, terminal value, and discount
rates. These inputs require management to make certain assumptions and estimates around industry economic
factors and future profitabiiity of the business.
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The cash-flow projections used in the valuaticn model are based on the Company’s one year budget created
and approved by management. This budgeted performance has been extrapolated to project performance in
future years 2 through 5. These projections were developed by management and include assumptions on
average growth rates experienced by the Group, capital spending trends, industry economic factors, the
expected future profitability of the business, and investment in working capital to support anticipated revenue
growth. The selected discount rate considers the risk and nature of the respective reporting units’ cash flows
and the rates of return market participants would require to invest their capital.

The key assumptions used in our discounted cash flow models are as foliows:

2022 2021
Qualitest Business T
Assumption CGU Group Unit QAISSPL
Revenue growth rate for years 1-5 16% - 23% 12% - 17% 5% - 8%
Terminal value growth rate for 2% 2% 2%
years 6+
Pre-tax discount rate 9% - 18% 11% 16%

Our analysis resulted in significant headroom on both a combined and individual cash generating unit level. The
headroom on an aggregated level was $898m over the $640m carrying value of the business unit held on the
consolidated balance sheet as of year end 2022.

After completing the annual impairment review of the Group’s goodwill at year end 2022, management has
concluded that goodwill was not impaired.

The Company has no goodwill held as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil}.
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12. Other intangible assets
Group

2021

Cost

At 1 January 2021

Acquisitions

Additions (internally developed)
Additions {(externally purchased)
Effect of movements in foreign
exchange

At 31 December 2021

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 lanuary 2021

Charge for the period

Effect of movements in foreign
exchange

At 31 December 2021

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021

Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Client Developed
refationships Trademarks technology Software Total
$'000 5’000 $°000 5’000 $’000
229,728 41,737 22,230 8,364 302,059
86,777 - - - 86,777
- - 3,544 - 3,544
- - - 1,750 1,750
1,450 - 166 - 1,616
317,955 41,737 25,940 10,114 395,746
18,288 5,217 2,967 3,231 29,703
19,611 4,174 3,374 3,232 30,391
(236) - (1,830) - (2,066)
37,663 9,391 4,511 6,463 58,028
280,292 32,346 21,429 3,651 337,718
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12. Other intangible assets {continued}
Group Client Developed

relationships Trademarks technology Software Total
2022 $'000 4’000 $'000 S'000 $'000
Cost
At 1 January 2022 317,855 41,737 25,940 10,114 395,746
Acquisitions 20,573 - - - 20,573
Additions (internally developed) - - 4,317 968 5,285
Effect of movements in foreign (21,779) ) (1,321) (351) (23,451)
exchange
At 31 December 2022 316,749 41,737 28,936 10,731 398,153
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2022 37,663 9,391 4,511 6,463 58,028
Charge for the period 23,829 4,174 6,681 2,685 37,369
Effect of movements in foreign (2,385) i (263) (159) (2,807)
exchange
At 31 December 2022 59,107 13,565 10,929 8,989 92,590
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 257,642 28,172 18,007 1,742 305,563

Amortisation and impairment charge
The amortisation and impairment charge is recognised in administrative expenses in the income statement.
Carrying value of intangibles

The carrying amount of Client relationships, which have arisen from the following acquisitions, comprises
$170.8m (2021: 5199.0m} in respect of the Jupiter Topco Group, $10.6m (2021: $11.6m} in respect of Olenick,
$3.8m (2021 54.4m} in respect of Comply Limited, $24.4m (2021: $28.8m) in respect of Telexiom AG, 53.9m
(2021: 54.4m) in respect of QA Infotech Inc., $25.4m (2021: $32.1m) in respect of QA Infotech Software Services
Private Limited and $18.7m in respect of Zen Quality Assurance Private Limited. These have a weighted average
remaining economic fife of 11.8 years (2021: 12.7 years).

The carrying amount of Trademarks comprises $28.2m (2021: $32.3m) which arose from the acquisition of the
of Jupiter Topco Group. These have a weighted average remaining economic life of 6.8 years (2021: 7.8 years).

The carrying amount of Developed technoiogy comprises $12.7m (2021: $17.5m) which arose from the

acquisition of the Jupiter Topco Group and $5.3m (2021: $3.9m) of internally generated developed technology.
These have weighted average remaining lives of 5.2 years (2021: 6.5 years).
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12. Other intangible assets (continued)

The carrying amount of Software comprises $1.7m {2021: $2.2m) which arose from the acquisition of Jupiter
Topco Group and SNil (2021: $1.5m) from the acquisition of Algotrace Limited. These have weighted average
remaining lives of 2.0 years (2021: 1.5 years).

Company

The company had no intangible assets as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 5nil).

13. Property, plant and equipment

Computer Leasehold Office

2021 equipment improvements equipment Total

$'000 5’000 5'000 $'000
Cost:
At 1 January 2021 1,763 1,489 760 4,012
Acquisitions 467 160 410 1,037
Additions 2,789 132 193 3,114
At 31 December 2021 5,019 1,781 1,363 8,163
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2021 412 303 256 971
Charge for the period 958 302 350 1,610
At 31 December 2021 1,370 605 606 2,581
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021 3,649 1,176 757 5,582
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13. Property, plant and equipment {continued)

2022

Cost:

At 1 January 2022

Acquisitions

Additions

Effect of movements in foreign
exchange

At 31 December 2022

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2022

Charge for the period

Effect of movements in foreign
exchange

At 31 December 2022

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022

14. Right of use assets

2021

Cost:

At 1 January 2021
Acquisitions
Additions

At 31 December 2021
Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2021
Charge for the period

At 31 December 2021

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021

Computer Leasehold Office
equipment improvements equipment Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 5’000
5,019 1,781 1,363 8,163
518 - 2,152 2,670
3,006 1,705 616 5,327
(732) {131) (342) (1,205)
7,811 3,355 3,789 14,955
1,370 605 606 2,581
1,681 231 736 2,648
(318) {99) (157) (574)
2,733 737 1,185 4,655
5,078 2,618 2,604 10,300
Property leases Vehicle leases Total
4’000 4’000 $'000
10,914 1,206 12,120
3,782 912 4,694
406 931 1,337
15,102 3,049 18,151
4,455 484 4,939
3,661 866 4,527
8,116 1,350 9,466
6,986 1,699 8,685
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14.

2022

Cost:

At 1 January 2022
Acquisitions

Additions

Remeasurement adjustments

At 31 December 2022

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2022

Charge for the period
Remeasurement adjustments

At 31 December 2022

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022

Right of use assets (continued)

Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Property leases Vehicle leases Total
$’000 5’000 $’000
15,102 3,049 18,151
6,626 - 6,626
7,157 1,646 8,803
2,210 (125) 2,085
31,0985 4,570 35,665
8,116 1,350 9,466
5,447 1,367 6,814
(918) (5) {923)
12,645 2,712 15,357
18,450 1,858 20,308

Right of use assets relate to property leases held by the Group. The interest charge on the lease liabilities of
$701k (2021: $600k) has been included in finance costs {note 8) and the depreciation charge of $6,814k (2021:
$4,527k) in the year is included within administrative expenses (note 5).

15. Subsidiaries

The group consists of a parent company, Quantum Holding Topco Limited {company), incorporated in the UK,
and a number of subsidiaries held directly and indirectly by Quantum Holding Topco Limited, which operate
and are incorporated around the world. The company’s separate financial statements included in this report

lists details of the interests in subsidiaries.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of the group to access or use assets and settle liabilities.

Quantum Holding Topco Limited has investments in the following subsidiary undertakings:

Subsidiary undertaking name Place of Principal Registered office address Class and Class and
incorporation | activity percentage of percentage of
shares held shares held
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Quantum Holding Finco Limited* UK Holding 1 Appoid Street, London, 100%* ordinary 100%* ordinary
England, EC2A 2UT
Quantum Helding Midco 1 UK Holding 1 Appold Street, London, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
Limited** England, EC2A 2UT
Quantum Holding Midco 2 UK Holding 1 Appold Street, London, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
Limited"* England, EC2A 2UT
Quantum Holdco US Bidco Corp** us Holding 1 Post Rd. 3" floor, Fairfield, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
Connecticut, 06824, USA
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Private Ltd

City, 1 Vittal Mallya Road,
Bengaluru, 560001, India.

Subsidiary undertaking name Place of Principal Registered office address Class and Class and
incorporation | activity percentage of percentage of
shares held shares held
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Quantum Holding UK Bidco UK Holding 1 Appold Street, London, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
Limited** England, EC2A 2UT
Jupiter Topco Limited UK In 1 Appold Street, London, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
liguidation England, EC2A 20T
Jupiter Midce 1 Limited UK In 1 Appold Street, London, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
liquidation England, EC2A 2UT
Jupiter Midco 2 Limited UK In 1 Appold Street, London, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
liquidation England, EC2A 2UT
Jupiter Holdco Limited UK Holding 1 Appold Street, London, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
England, EC2A 2UT
Experior Group Limited UK In 1 Appold Street, London, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
liquidation England, EC2A 2UT
Experior Limited UK In 1 Appold Street, London, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
hiquidation England, EC2A 2UT
Qualitest Group UK Limited UK Trading 1 Appald Street, London, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
England, ECZA 2UT
Jupiter Bidco Ltd Israel Holding Deniv Park, 21d Yagia, Kapayim | 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
St, Petach-Tikva, 49130, Israel
ibase Operations Corp*™* us Trading Greentree Drive, Suite 101, 200% ordinary 100% ordinary
Dover, Delaware 19904 USA
CualiTest Ltd Israel Trading Deniv Park, 21d Yagia, Kapayim | 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
St, Petach-Tikva, 49130, Israel
QualiTest Partnership Ltd Israel Trading Deniv Park, 21d Yagia, Kapayim | 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
St, Petach-Tikva, 49130, Israel
Electronic Nation LLC** us Dormant 1 Post Rd. 3" floor, Fairfield, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
Connecticut, 06824, USA
Ibase of Fairfield LLC** us Trading 1 Post Rd. 3" floor, Fairfield, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
Connecticut, 06824, USA
TCL Group Limited UK Holding 1 Appold Street, London, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
England, ECZA 2UT
Qualitest Software Testing Limited UK Trading 1 Appold Street, Landon, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
England, EC2A 2UT
Qualitest Software Testing India India Trading Level 15, Concorde Tower, UB 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
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Subsidiary undertaking name

Place of
incorporation

Principal
activity

Registered office address

Class and
percentage of
shares held
31 December
2022

Class and
percentage of
shares held
31 December
2021

Qualitest UK 4 Limited

Qualitest DC Ro S.R.L

Q-TEST PORTUGAL SOFTWARE,

UNIPESSOAL LDA

QT SOFTWARE TESTING MEXICO

Algotrace itd

Qualitest Infotech Private Limited

Qualitest India Private Limited

Qualitest Germany GmbH

Cualitest Germany Holding GmbH

QA Infotech Software Services
Private Limited

QA Infotech Inc.**

Olenick Global Limited

UK

Romania

Portugat

Mexico

Israel

India

India

Germany

Germany

India

us

UK

In
liquidation

Trading

Trading

Trading

Trading

Trading

Trading

Trading

Holding

Trading

Trading

Trading

1 Appold Street, London,
England, EC2A 2UT

Bucuresti Sectorul 1, Strada
Diaconu Coresi, Nr. 53,
Romania

Lagoas Park, Building One,
2740-265, Porte Salvo,
Portugal

Av. Paseo de |a Reforma No.
295, Int. Piso 8, Colonia
Cuzuhtémoc, Alcaldia
Cuauhtemoc, C.P. 06500,
Mexico City

Deniv Park, 21d Yagia, Kapayim
St, Petach-Tikva, 49130, Israel

250 Aggarwal Plaza, Plot No-
08,LSC-1 S/F Mixed Housing
Sector, Kondli Gharali,
MayurVihar Phase-Ill New
Delhi East Delhi DL 110096
India

250 Aggarwal Plaza, Plot No-
08,LSC-1 5/F Mixed Housing
Sector, Kondli Gharoli,
MayurVihar Phase-Ill New
Delhi East Delhi DL 110096
India

Spichernstrale 6 B, 50672,
K&ln, Germany

Spichernstrafe 6 B, 50672,
Kéln, Germany

250 Aggarwal Plaza, Plot No-
08,L5C-1 5/F Mixed Housing
Sector, Kondli Gharoli,
MayurVihar Phase-lll New
Delhi East Delhi DI. 110096
India

32985 Hamilton Court, Suite
121, Farmington Hills, Mi
48331, USA

26 Linenhall Street, Belfast,
BT2 8BG

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary

100% ordinary
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Qualitest Technologies Pvt Ltd

No., 1202812154, Road no.
36, Jubilee Hills,, Hyderabad,
Hyderabad, Telangana, India,
500033

Subsidi dertaking nam Place of Principal Registered office address Class and Class and
idiary uncertaking € incorporation | activity percentage of percentage of
shares held shares held
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
X Argentina Trading 577 Paraguay Street, Floor S, 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
Olenick Global S.A. Office B, Buenos Aires City,
Argentina
. Israel Trading 6 Haprachim Street, Kfar 100% ordinary 100% ordinary
Comply Limited Malal, 45920, Israel
z i Pri India Trading 01st, 02nd 03rd Floor, Atria 100% ordinary -
en() Quality Assurance Private Ltd Buitding, Plot NO.17, Survey
no. 64/2, Software Units
Layout, Madhapur, Hyderabad
500081 Telangana State, India.
Canada Trading 1383 West 8th Avenue 100% ordinary -
Zen Quality Assurance Ltd Vancouver BCVEHIW4S
Canada
us Trading 4100, Spring Valley Road, 100% crdinary -
ZenQUC Suite. 910, Dallas, TX 75244,
usa
Switzerland Tradin, Bahnhofstrasse 21, 6300 Zug, 100% ordina -
Qualitest Group Switzerland AG € Switzerland & i
India Holding Regus, SL Jubilee, 3rd Fir, Plot 100% ordinary -

*Held directly by the Company.

**@Guarantors in cross group guarantee through SFA.

Subsidiary companies’ audit exemption
The Company has provided the following subsidiaries with a parental guarantee in accordance with section
479C of the Companies Act. As such, advantage has been taken by the audit exemption available for the
following subsidiary companies conferred by section 479A of the Companies Act relating to the audit of
individual financial statements:

Subsidiary undertaking name

Registration number

Quantum Holding Finco Limited
Quantum Holding Midco 2 Limited
Quantum Holding UK Bidco Limited
lupiter Holdce Limited

Qualitest Group UK Limited

TCL Group Limited

Qualitest Seftware Testing Limited
Clenick Global Limited

12077487
12077691
12077725
10238811
04394772
05882567
03929849
NI611663
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16. Trade and other receivables
2022 2021
5’000 $'000
Trade receivables 72,723 58,217
Expected credit losses (777} (768)
71,946 57,449
Contract assets 18,192 16,589
Other receivables 572 2,752
Prepayments 5,373 5,059
Lease receivables 290 262
Total current 96,373 82,111
Other receivables 2,001 432
Lease receivables 454 720
Total nen-current 2,545 1,152

Contract assets increased from $16,589k to $18,192k, this includes $658k (2021: $1,131k} of contract asset
acquired from business combinations as at the acquisition date.

The specified credit terms for Group customers are typically 60 days.

Qut of total trade receivables as at 31 December 2022 $23,377k (2021: $21,317k) was overdue but not
recognised as a loss allowance in profit or loss for expected credit losses. Management regularly reviews
receivables and assesses recoverability. The above loss allowance has been deemed adequate.

The Group has contracted, through its subsidiary, trade receivables factoring transactions with a bank, whereby
the Group sells part of its trade receivables, in order to increase liquidity in the group. As at 31 December 2022
the balance factored under this facility was 511,467k {2021: $10,494k). As the facility is non-recourse the
amount is not within the receivables balance.

All non-current receivables are due within five years from the end of the reporting period.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which use a lifetime loss
allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales and the historical credit losses experienced. The current and forward-looking information on
macroeccnomic factors affecting the ability of customers to settle the receivables are also considered. The
Group have assessed that there is no material adjustment to loss allowance required, to reflect the lifetime
expected loss. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the period is the fair value of trade and other
receivables. The Directors estimate that the carrying value of receivables is an approximation of their fair value.
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Parent Company only

Amounts owed by group undertakings
Intercompany loan notes receivable
Prepayments and other debtors

Non-current
Current

Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
$'000 $000
13,609 4,207
2,808 2,547
67 -
16,484 6,754
16,417 6,754
67 -

The amounts owed by group undertakings bear no interest and are repayable on demand, however do not
expect to be recalled within 12 months and therefore have been classified as non-current. The loan notes
receivable bear interest at 10% per annum and are repayable in October 2028.

17. Borrowings

Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost
Priority shares

Related party loan notes

Secured borrowing at amortised cost
Bank loans

Total borrowings

Amount due for settlement within 12 months
Amount due for settlement after 12 months

2022 2021
$'000 $'000
193,587 175,665
130,010 118,416
454,410 374,593
778,007 668,674
38,086 27,926
739,921 640,748
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17. Borrowings (continued)
Analysis of borrowings by Israeli
currency: New us
2021 Sterling Euro Shekels Dollars Total
$'000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000
Priority shares - - - 175,665 175,665
Loan notes - - - 118,416 118,416
Bank loans 25,645 63,638 8,901 283,775 381,959
Arrangement fees - - - (7,366) {7,366)
25,645 63,638 8,901 570,490 668,674
Analysis of borrowings by Israeli
currency: New us
2022 Sterling Euro Shekels Dollars Total
s’000 $'000 $’000 $°000 $’000
Priority shares - - - 193,587 193,587
Loan notes - - - 130,010 130,010
Bank loans 22,976 60,175 8,479 368,588 460,218
Arrangement fees - - - (5,808) {5,808)
22,976 60,175 8,479 686,377 778,007
Carrying Carrying
Face Value amount Face Value amount
Nominal Year of 2022 2022 2021 2021
interest rate maturity $'000 5’000 $'000 $'000
Priority shares 10% 2028 142,162 193,587 142,162 175,665
Loan notes 10% 2029 95,258 130,010 86,085 118,416
Bank loans 9.8% 2028 460,218 460,218 381,959 381,959
Arrangement fees 2028 {5,808) (5,808) (7,366) {7,366)
691,830 778,007 602,840 668,674
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17. Borrowings (continued)

In 2021, the Group has successfully refinanced its principal bank facilities that existed at 31 December 2020
which included a secured loan of GBP 13m {Facility B1), a secured loan of ILS 74.7m (Facility B1), a secured loan
of USD 123m (Facility B2), a secured lcan of $30m denominated in USD {Acquisition/Capex facility 1), a secured
loan of 580m denominated in USD (Acquisition/Capex facility 2) and a secured loan of $20m denominated in
USD (Revolving facility).

The debt cost in relation to these closed facilities have been written off as part of the refinance as it was
considered a substantial modificaticn with the old loan being derecognised and the new loan being recognised
along with the related debt costs. A new arrangement fee of $9,214k has been included at the date of refinance
and will be amortised over the 4 year expected term of the new financing facility. The bank loans balance above
is shown net of arrangement fees as at 31 December 2022 of $5,807k (2021: $7,366k).

The group’s principal bank loans are comprised of 5 different facilities:
1} A secured loan of USD 211m (Facility B1)
2} Asecured loan of GBP 19m (Facility B2)
3) Asecured loan of USD 31m {Facility B3)
4) Asecured loan of $349m denominated in USD {Acquisition/Capex facility 1)
5) A secure loan of $40m denominated in USD (Revolving facility)

All of the above loans form part of a Senicr Funding Agreement and are secured by a floating charge over
certain of the group’s assets.

The weighted average interest rates were as follows:

2022 2021
% %
Bank loans 9.8 5.9

In 2021, the Group had the following interest rate and currency swaps:
* USD 46,000,000 - Pay: 1.7280% / Receive: USD 6M LIBOR - IR Swap - Maturity Date: 31-December-2022
e Cross-Currency Swap - Pay ILS 6.320% / Receive USD 6M Libor + 625bps - Maturity Date: 31-December-
2022
e Cross-Currency Swap - Pay ILS 6.365% / Receive USD 6M Libor + 625bps - Maturity Date: 31-December-
2022

In 2022, the Group had the following derivative financial instruments:
« Foreign exchange forward contracts:

Type Pay Receive Trade date Maturity date
FX forward ust 7.8m INR 640m 30 May 2022 31 March 2023
FX forward UsSD 8.2m INR 664m 30 May 2022 30 June 2023
FX forward USD 8.2m INR 670m 30 May 2022 29 September 2023
s |nterest rate cap: USD154m USD 3-month strike 2.5%: Trade date: 30 June 2022. Maturity date: 30
September 2023,

In the year the derivative financial instruments made a net loss of 51,412k (2021: loss 5847k).

72



Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

17. Borrowings {(continued)

Revolving credit facility

The Group has available drawings under the Revolving Credit Facility of $40.0m (2021: 540.0m), of which
$30.5m (2021: $18.5m) was drawn down and remained in place as at the periocd end.

Changes in liabilities from financing activities

Loans and Lease Loans and Lease
borrowings liabilities borrowings liabilities
2022 2022 2021 2021
$’000 $’000 $000 $’000
Balance at 1 January 668,674 10,665 457,629 7,550
Changes from financing cash flows
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 85,803 - 464,216 -
Repayment of borrowings (3,862) - {279,913} -
Net mgvement on factoring ) ; 5,790
borrowings
Payment of lease liahilities - (8,819) - (3,516)
Transa.ctlon costs related to loans and (954) ) (9,214) )
borrowings
Interest paid {35,627) {701) (26,005) -
Total changes from financing cash 45,360 (9,520) 154,874 (3,516)
flows
Changes arising from obtaining or
losing contrel of subsidiaries or other - 6,626 - 4,694
businesses
The effect of ch i i
e effect of changes in foreign (7,334) 219 (3,567) )
exchange rates
Other changes
New leases - 11,811 - 1,337
Amortisation of capitalised borrowing
costs 2,512 - 6,425 -
Issuance of pricrity shares in business
combination - - 997 -
Interest expense 68,795 701 52,316 600
Total other changes 71,307 12,512 59,738 1,937
Balance at 31 December 778,007 20,502 668,674 10,665
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17. Borrowings {continued)

Parent Company only

2022 2021

$'000 $'000

Priority shares 142,162 142,162
Accrued interest 51,425 33,503
193,587 175,665

Non-current 193,587 175,665

Priority shares are equity instruments that have been classified as debt. Interest is payable on these shares at
a rate of 10% per annum. These shares do not carry voting rights. In an Exit or Default Event all the Priority
shares in issue will be immediately redeemable including any accrued and/or unpaid dividend. Repayment of
the priority shares to the owners and the related accrued interest is prioritised over the payments to other
equity shareholders.

The priority shares are the same priority shares as described for the group above, please see above for further
details for the terms relating to the priority shares.

Changes in liabilities from financing activities

Loans and Loans and

borrowings borrowings

2022 2021

$'000 $'000

Balance at 1 January 175,665 158,901
Other changes

Interest expense 17,922 15,767

Issuance of priority shares in business combination - 997

Total other changes 17,922 16,764

Balance at 31 December 193,587 175,665
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18. Deferred tax

The following are the deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group and movements thereon during
the current and prior reporting period.

Deferred tax

Assets Liabilities Net

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 5’000 5’000 $’000 $'000 $’000
Fixed assets - - (55) (76) (55) {76)
Employee benefits 550 883 - - 550 883
Temporary trading 807 260 - - 807 260
differences
Losses 13,493 7,615 - - 13,493 7,615
Interest 5,999 7,987 - - 5,999 7,987

intangibles created on

consolidation ) - (74,906) {84,194) (74,906) (84,194)

Other 210 67 - - 210 67
21,059 16,812 (74,961) (84,270) (53,902) {67,458)
Acquired in
1January Recognised in business 31 December
2021 income combinations 2021
$'000 $’000 $'000 $°000
Fixed assets {161) 85 - (76}
Employee benefits - 883 - 883
Temporary trading differences (1,837) 2,097 - 260
Losses 1,837 5,778 - 7,615
Interest (574} 8,561 - 7,987
Intangibles created on consolidation (56,510) (5,445) {22,239) (84,194)
Other 59 8 - 67
(57,186) 11,967 (22,239} (67,458)
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18. Deferred tax (continued)
Exchange
Acquired in differences
1 January Recognised business recognised 31 December
2022 inincome combinations in 0CI 2022
000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $’000
Fixed assets {76) 21 - - {55}
Employee benefits 383 {333) - - 550
Tfemporary trading 260 547 ) } 807
differences
Losses 7,615 5,878 - - 13,493
Interest 7,987 (1,988) - - 5,999
Intangibles created on (84,194) 9,216 (6,165) 6,237 (74,906)
consolidation
Other 67 143 - - 210

(67,458) 13,484 {6,165} 6,237 (53,902)

No deferred tax asset is recognised on temporary differences of Snil {2021: $0.2m) relating to the unremitted
earnings of overseas subsidiaries as the Group is not able to control the timings of the reversal of these
temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

In India, after 8 years any tax losses will expire and will no longer be used to reduce taxable income, excluding
unabsorbed depreciation.

There is $11.1m unprovided deferred tax asset (2021: $nil), representing $44.6m {2021: $nil} of unrecognised
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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19. Trade and other payables

Current 2022 2021
$'000 5’000
Employees and other payroll liabiiities 15,845 16,366
Accrued expenses 16,640 14,202
Other payables 2,743 4,133
Trade payables 6,235 5,580
Contract liabilities 1,199 -
Contingent consideration 6,504 23,530
Deferred consideration 558 -
Corporation tax 1,730 10,003
Total current 51,454 73,814
Non-current
Deferred consideration 1,430 -
Liability for share based payment 2,821 276
Total non-current 4,251 276

Trade payables and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs.
The average credit period taken for trade purchases is 30 to 60 days. The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit terms. The directors consider
that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.

Parent Company only

2022 2021

$’000 $'000

Trade payables 246 -
Liability for share based payment 2,821 -
3,067 -

Current 246 -
Non-current 2,821 -

On 18 September 2020, Intertrust Employee Benefit Trustee Limited in its capacity as sole trustee of the
Quantum Employee Benefit Trust {"Borrower") entered into a loan facility agreement with Ibase Operations
Corp. ("Lender"). The Lender agreed to make available to the Borrower the maximum amount available under
the facility agreement of $200,000.

77



Quantum Holding Topco Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

19. Trade and other payables (continued)

On 9 April 2021, subject to the terms of the loan facility agreement, the Lender agreed to increase the maximum
amount available to the Borrower under the facility from $200,000 to $2,000,000.

The Borrower may apply the loan only for the following purposes:
* auyuiring shares to be held by the Borrower {or a nominee appointed by the Berrower) under the terms
of the Trust instrument; and/or
* paying any stamp duty and other expenses in relation to the acquisition of shares.

Each Loan will accrue interest at a rate of 0.41% per cent. per annum, accruing daily and compounding on the
last day of each Interest Period while a Loan is outstanding. Interest is payable in arrears on the date of
repayment of that Loan. All repayments and payments to be made by the Borrower to the Lender under or in
respect of the Facility shall be made in US Dollars.

Borrower's liability under this loan facility agreement shall be limited to the value of the unencumbered assets
of the Trust in the possession of or under the control of the Borrower from time to time.

Barrower's liability under this loan facility agreement shall be limited to the value of the unencumbered assets
of the Trust in the possession of or under the control of the Borrower from time to time. A limited recourse of
£749,000 is applicable should the Lender demands payment as at 31 December 2022 (2021: £3,000).

20. Provisions

2021 Severance Dilapidations Other Total

57000 $'000 $’000 $°000
1 January 2021 2,154 533 637 3,324
Acquisitions 956 - - 956
Charged to income statement 146 - 143 289
31 December 2021 3,256 533 780 4,569
Classified as current 3,256 - - 3,256
Classified as non-current - 533 780 1,313
Total 3,256 533 780 4,569
2022 Severance Dilapidations Other Totaf

$'000 $’000 5’000 $'000
1 January 2022 3,256 533 780 4,569
Acquisitions 771 - - 771
Utilised {263) - (242) (505}
31 December 2022 3,764 533 538 4,835
Classified as current 3,764 - - 3,764
Classified as non-current - 533 538 1,071
Total 3,764 533 538 4,835
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The provision for severance pay is a statutory requirement in Israel and India and has been calculated using
actuarial estimates provided by a qualified actuary. The present value of the defined benefit liability and the
related cost of current and past service were measured using the projected unit credit method.

The provision for dilapidations is in respect of property lease that contain requirements for the premises to be
returned in their original state on the conclusion of the lease terms.

The ‘other’ provisions relate to existing legal disputes within the Group. See note 3.15 for details on accounting
policies with respect to provisions.

These provisions are estimates because actual costs and timing of future cash flows are dependent on future
events. Any difference between expectations and the future liability will be accounted for when such
determination is made.

21. Capital and reserves

Share Capital

2022 2022 2021 2021
Allotted, called up and fully paid: Number S Number $
Shares classified in shareholders’ funds:
A Ordinary shares of $0.01 each (one vote per share) 763,241 7,632 763,241 7,632
B Ordinary shares of $0.01 each (one vote per share) 51,892 519 47,478 475
C1 Ordinary shares of $0.01 each (no voting rights) 200,000 2,000 208,373 2,084
D Ordinary shares of $0.01 each {no voting rights) 200,000 2,000 222,444 2,224
Share premium - 1,188,871 - 1,188,607
Total shares classified in shareholders’ funds 1,215,133 1,201,022 1,241,536 1,201,022
Shares classified as liabilities:
Priority shares of $0.0001 each {no voting rights)* 142,161,746 14,216 142,161,746 14,216
Total shares classified as liabilities 142,161,746 14,216 142,161,746 14,216

*In addition to the priority share capital, share premium associated with the issue of the priority shares of
5142.1m is also classified as liabilities.

All the above share classes, other than priority shares, allow the holding to participate in dividends.

On return of capital, firstly the holders of the priority shares will be paid full amount of capital paid up on the
priority shares and the holders of the loan notes will be paid the principal outstanding on the notes. Secondly,
the holders of the pricrity shares will be paid the priority amount and the holders of the loans notes will be
paid accrued interest. Thirdly, any remaining value will be paid on a pari passu basis between the holders of A,
B and C1 ordinary shares provided that:

(i) where the investors have received an investor return of more than 3 but equal to or less than 4, an
amount equal to the first rachet percentage of the remaining value shall be paid to the holders of
the D erdinary shares and such payment to the holders of D ordinary shares shall dilute the amount
of the remaining value due to the holders of A and B ordinary shares on a pari passu basis; and
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(i) where the investors have received an investor return of more than 4, an amount equal to the
second ratchet percentage of the remaining value shall be paid to the holders of the D ordinary
shares and such payment to the holders of D ordinary shares shall dilute the amount of the
remaining value due to the holders of A and B ordinary shares on a pari passu basis.

During the year the Company issued 4,414 B ordinary shares and a net cancellation of 8,373 C1 ordinary shares
and 22,444 D ordinary shares. All shares were issued/cancelled as part of the share based payment scheme
(see note 25). In 2021 the Company issued 3,256 B ordinary shares and 996,948 priority shares as part of the
Qlenick acquisition consideration {see note 22). The Company issued 56,064 C1 ordinary Shares and 58,943 ©
ordinary shares as part of the share based payment scheme (see note 25). All shares will be settled in cash.

Transiation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising since September 2019, from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations, as well as from the translation of liabilities that
hedge the Company’s net investment in a foreign subsidiary. The translation reserve is a component of retained
earnings on the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

ESOP own shares

The ESOP own shares comprises the costs of shares in Quantum Holding Topco Limited held by the ESOP trust,
to the extent that they have not become realised losses and netted with balances owed to the Intertrust
Employee Benefit Trustee Limited. When they become realised losses, they are transferred to retained
earnings. At 31 December 2022, the ESOP trust held 58,569 and 44,676 of the Quantum Holding Topco
Limited’s C1 and D shares respectively (2021: C1 shares: 83,116 and D shares: 83,722).

Other Reserve
2022 2021
$'000 $’000
Other reserve 10,851 3,530

The other reserve balance comprises of accumulated share based payment charges.
22. Acquisitions

Acquisition of Zen Quality Assurance Private Limited and ZenQ LLC

On 17 June 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Zen Quality Assurance Private Limited, a
private limited company incorporated and domiciled in India and Zen(Q LLC a private limited company
incorporated and domiciled in Dallas, United States of America. Both companies specialise in software
development and testing services, software maintenance services, technical support and outsourcing services.
The Group acquired the companies because they contributed a workforce with enhanced next-gen quality
assurance capabilities. The disclosures below have been aggregated for both companies acquired as ZenQ LLC
was not a material acquisition.
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Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Zen Quality Assurance Private Limited and ZenQ LLC
as at the date of acquisition were;

Assets Book Value Fair value
$'000 $°000
Intangible assets — Customer Relationships - 20,573
Property, plant and equipment 2,670 2,670
Right-of-use assets - 6,626
Cther non-current assets 333 333
Bank and cash balances 6,989 6,989
Trade receivables 1,135 1,135
Other receivables 2,260 2,260
13,387 40,586

Liahilities
Lease liabilities - (6,626)
Trade payables {1,334) (1,334)
Other current payables {1,846) (1,846)
Provision {771} (771)
Deferred taxation - (6,460)
(3,951) (17,037)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 9,436 23,549
Goodwill arising on acquisition — Assembled & Trained Waorkforce 17,055

Purchase consideration transferred 40,604

The deferred tax liability mainly comprises the tax effect of the accelerated depreciation for tax purposes of
tangible and intangible assets.

The goodwill of $17.1 million comprises the fair value of expected synergies arising from acquisition. Due to
the contractual terms imposed on acquisition, the assembled and trained workforce is not separable.
Therefore, it does not meet the criteria or recognition as an intangible asset under 1AS 38. None of the goodwiill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition, the two companies contributed $9.4 million of revenue and $3.0 miliicn to profit
before tax from continuing operations of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the
year, revenue from continuing operations would have been $16.4 million and profit before tax from continuing
operations for the Group would have been $6.2 millicn.
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Purchase consideration 5’000
Cash consideration 25,689
Contingent and deferred consideration liability 10,915

40,604

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:
Transaction costs of the acquisition (included in cash flows from

) o (704)
operating activities)
Cash consideration transferred (included in cash flows from (29,689)
investing activities) !
Net cash and cash equivalent acquired with the subsidiary
. . - . - 6,989
{included in cash flows from investing activities)

Net cash flow on acquisition (23,404)

Transaction costs of $704k were expensed and are included in administrative expenses.

As part of the purchase agreement with the previous owners of Zen Quality Assurance Private Limited, a
contingent and deferred consideration has been agreed. These will be additional cash payments to the previous
owners and employees of the company. The deferred payments to employees are not a material component
of the purchase consideration and so are not discussed further.

The Group agreed earn-out arrangements based on the financial performance of the acquired entity over a
period of time. The contingent consideration arrangement primarily relates to two earn out payments. The
first payment requires the acquired entity to satisfy revenue and EBITDA targets as set out in the Purchase
Agreement. The second payment requires the acquired entity to satisfy revenue and gross margin targets as
set outin the Purchase Agreement. The value of these earn-out payments will be impacted by how much actual
revenue, gross margin and EBITDA have achieved these criteria.

As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent and deferred consideration was estimated to be
$10.9m million. As of June 2022, the first earn out criteria was satisfied and payment was made to the previous
owners.

As at 31 December 2022, the key performance indicaters for Zen Quality Assurance Private Limited show that
it is highly probable that the targets for the second earn out payment will be achieved.
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In 2022 a further $249k was paid as additional purchase consideration to the former owners of Comply Limited.
This consideration was not provided in the 2021 financial statements and in 2022 has been treated as an
addition to acquired goodwill. The following disclosures have been amended where required.

During 2021 the following acquisitions were completed.
Acquisition of Olenick & Associate, Inc, Olenick Global Limited and Olenick Global $.A

On 16 April 2021, the Group acquired the trade and assets of Olenick & Associate, Inc, 100% UK shares of
Olenick Global Limited and 100% share capital of Olenick Global S.A., an Argentina corporation; all specialising
in the business of providing software quality engineering services. The acquisition enhances the Group’s deep
Quality Assurance expertise in the utilities space and expands its footprint in Chicago, Buenos Aires and
Northern Ireland.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Olenick & Associate, Inc, Qlenick Global Limited and
QOlenick Global 5.A as at the date of acquisition were:

Assets Book Value Fair Value
$'000 $’000
Intangible assets — Customer Relationships - 12,300
Right-of-use assets - 1,013
Trade receivable 6,045 6,045
Contract assets 1,100 1,100
Other receivables 400 400
7,545 20,858
Liabilities
Lease liabilities - (1,013)
Trade and other payables (435) (435)
{(435) {1,448)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 7,110 19,410
Goodwill arising on acquisition — Assembled & Trained Workforce 2,790
Purchase consideration transferred 22,200

The goodwill of $2.8 million comprises the fair value of expected synergies arising from acquisition. Due to the
contractual terms imposed on acquisition, the assembled and trained workforce is not separable. Therefore, it
does not meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset under I1AS 38. None of the goodwill recognised
is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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From the date of acquisition, Olenick Global Limited, Olenick Global S.A and the trade and asset acquired from
Olenick & Associate, Inc, contributed $28.6m of revenue and $6.7m to profit before tax from continuing
operations of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, revenue from
continuing operations would have been $40m and profit before tax from continuing operations for the Group
would have been $8.0m.

Purchase consideration $'000
Cash consideration 17,400
Shares issued by parent company, at fair value 1,000
Contingent consideration liability 3,800

22,200

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:

Transaction costs of the acquisition (included in cash flows from operating activities) {(538)
Cash consideration transferred (included in cash flows from investing activities) {17,400)
Transaction costs attributable to issuance of shares (included in cash flows from

financing activities, net of tax)

Net cash flow on acquisition (17,938)

The Group’s parent, Quantum Holding Topco Limited a non-listed company, issued B shares as part of the
consideration for the 100% interest in Olenick & Associate Inc., Olenick Global Limited and Olenick Global S.A.
The fair value estimate of these shares is based on a $1m receivable that the seller settle for 996,948 priority
shares and 3,296 B shares. The fair value of the consideration given was therefore $1.0 million.

Transaction costs of $537,638 were expensed and are included in administrative expenses.
Contingent consideration

As part of the purchase agreement with the previous owner of Olenick & Associate, Inc, Clenick Global Limited
and Olenick Global S.A, a contingent consideration has been agreed. There will be additional cash payments to
the previous owners:

The Group agreed earn-out arrangements based on the financial performance of the acquired entities over a
period of time. The contingent consideration arrangement relates to one earn out payment and requires the
acquired entities to satisfy both Revenue and EBITDA targets as set out per the Purchase Agreement. The value
of the earn out payment will be impacted by how much actual revenue and EBITDA have exceeded these
criteria.

As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent consideration was estimated to be $3.8 million. As
at 31 December 2021, the key performance indicators of Olenick & Associate, Inc, Olenick Global Limited and
Olenick Global 5.A show that it is highly probable that the target will be achieved.
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Acquisition of Comply Limited

On 25 March 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Comply Limited, a company registered in
Israel and specialising in the business of providing quality assurance and testing services specifically in Pharma
and Digital Health. The Group acquired Comply Limited because it significantly expands the Group’s footprint
in providing high quality assurance for health and pharma businesses.

In 2022 a further $249k was paid as additional purchase consideration to the former owners of Comply Limited.
This consideration was not provided in the 2021 financial statements and in 2022 has been treated as an
addition to acquired goodwill. The following disclosures have been amended where required.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Comply Limited as at the date of acquisition were:

Assets Book Value Fair Value
$’000 $'000
Intangible assets — Customer Relationships - 4,892
Property, plant and equipment 92 92
Right-of-use assets - 133
Bank and cash balances 154 154
Trade receivable 3,815 3,815
Contract assets 31 31
4,092 9,117

Liahilities
Lease liabilities - {(133)
Overdraft (2,338) (2,338)
Trade and other payables (1,430} (1,430)
Ceferred taxation - (1,126)
(3,768) (5,027)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 324 4,080
Goodwill arising on acquisition 1,325
Additional goodwill recognised in 2022 249

Purchase consideration transferred
in 2021 5,415
In 2022 249
5,664
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The goodwill of $1.0 million comprises the fair value of expected synergies arising from acquisition. Bue to the
contractual terms imposed on acquisition, the assembled and trained workforce is not separable. Therefore, it
does not meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset under 1AS 38. None of the goodwill recognised
is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition, Comply Limited contributed $6.0 million of revenue and 50.7 million to profit
before tax from continuing cperations of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the
year, revenue from continuing operations would have been $7.8 million and profit before tax from continuing
operations for the Group would have been $1.4 million.

Purchase consideration $‘000

Cash consideration

In 2021 5,415

In 2021 249
5,664

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:
Transaction costs of the acquisition {included in cash flows from

operating activities) (216)
Cash consideration transferred {included in cash flows from investing

e {5,415)
activities) in 2021
Cash consideration transferred {included in cash flows from investing

. . (249)
activities) in 2022
Net cash and cash equivalent acquired with the subsidiary (included in (2,184)
cash flows from investing activities) !
Net cash flow on acquisition {8,064)
Net cash flow on acquisition
In 2021 (7,815)
In 2022 (249)

(8,064)

Transaction costs of $215,977 were expensed and are included in administrative expenses.

The Purchase Agreement for the acquisition of Comply Limited contained earn-out clauses that has been
assessed to be a post-combination remuneration arrangement. This has been accounted for under IAS 19
Employee Benefits as Short-term employee benefits and disciosed as part of employee benefit for the year.
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Acquisition of Telexiom AG

On 1 August 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Telexiom AG, a stock corporation
incorporated under German law and specialising in the business of providing all-inclusive IT services with core
competencies in testing and test automation, software development, IT security and IT management. The
Group acquired Telexiom AG because it significantly extends the Group’s geographic footprint in the DACH
market and provide expanded capabilities in digital engineering in cybersecurity.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Telexiom AG as at the date of acquisition were:

Assets Book Value Fair Value
$'000 $’000
Intangible assets — Customer Relationships - 29,438
Property, plant and equipment 237 237
Right-of-use assets - 1,120
Bank and cash balances 831 831
Trade receivable 5,104 5,104
Other receivables 119 119
6,291 36,849

Liabilities
Lease liabilities - (1,120)
Bank Loan {950) (950}
Trade and other payables (2,617} (2,617)
Corporation tax liability {594) (594}
Deferred taxation - {9,726)
(4,161) (15,007}
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 2,130 21,842
Goodwill arising on acquisition 12,225

Purchase consideration transferred 34,067

The deferred tax liability mainly comprises the tax effect of the accelerated depreciation for tax purposes of
tangible and intangible assets.

The goodwill of $7.5 million comprises the fair value of expected synergies arising from acquisition. Due to the
contractual terms imposed on acquisition, the assembled and trained workforce is not separable. Therefore, it
does not meet the criteria or recognition as an intangible asset under IAS 38. None of the goodwill recognised
is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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From the date of acquisition, Telexiom AG contributed $10.4 million of revenue and $0.2 million to loss before
tax from continuing operations of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year,
revenue from continuing operations would have been $28.3 million and profit before tax from continuing
operations for the Group would have been $4.0 million.

Purchase consideration $‘000
Cash consideration 28,963
Contingent consideration liability 5,104

34,067

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:
Transaction costs of the acquisition {included in cash flows from

operating activities) (1,241)
Cash consideration transferred (included in cash flows from investing

L (28,963)
activities)
Net cash and cash equivalent acquired with the subsidiary {included 231
in cash flows from investing activities)
Net cash flow on acquisition {29,273)

Transaction costs of 51,140,927 were expensed and are included in administrative expenses.
Contingenit consideration

As part of the purchase agreement with the previous owner of Telexiom AG, a contingent consideration has
been agreed. These will be additional cash payments to the previous owners:

The Group agreed earn-out arrangements based on the financial performance of the acquired entity over a
period of time. The contingent consideration arrangement relates to two earn out payments. The first payment
requires the acquired entity to satisfy an EBITDA target as set out per the Purchase Agreement. The second
payment requires the acquired entity to satisfy a Revenue target as set out per the Purchase Agreement. The
value of these earn out payments will be impacted by how much actual revenue and EBITDA have exceeded
these criteria.

As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent consideration was estimated to be $5.1 million.

As at 31 December 2021, the key performance indicators of Telexiom AG show that it is highly probable that
the target will be achieved.
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Acquisition of QA Infotech Software Services Private Limited

On 18 February 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of QA Software Services Private Limited, a
private limited company incorporated and domiciled in India and specialising in software development and
testing services, software maintenance services, technical support and outsourcing services. The Group
acquired QA Software Services Private Limited because it significantly extends the Group’s geographic footprint
in the India market.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of QA Infotech Software Services Private Limited as at
the date of acquisition were:

Assets Book vValue Fair Value
$'000 $’000
Intangible assets — Customer Relationships - 35,387
Property, plant and equipment 708 708
Right-of-use assets - 2,428
Bank and cash balances 3,285 3,285
Trade receivable 4,440 4,440
Other receivables 2,860 2,860
Prepayment 2,623 2,623
13,916 51,731

Liabilities
Lease liabilities - (2,428)
Trade and other payables {5,559} (5,559)
Provision (956} (956)
Deferred taxation - (10,487}
{6,515} (19,430)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 7,402 32,301
Goodwill arising on acquisition 66,761
Purchase consideration transferred 99,062

The deferred tax liability mainly comprises the tax effect of the accelerated depreciation for tax purposes of
tangible and intangible assets.
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The goodwill of $66.8 million comprises the fair value of expected synergies arising from acquisition. Due to
the contractual terms imposed on acquisition, the assembled and trained workforce is not separable,
Therefore, it does not meet the criteria or recognition as an intangible asset under tAS 38. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition, QA Software Services Private Limited contributed $26.9 million of revenue and
$12.1 million to profit before tax from continuing operations of the Group. If the combination had taken place
at the beginning of the year, revenue from continuing operations would have been $30.0 million and profit
before tax from continuing operations for the Group would have been $13.8 million.

Purchase consideration $’000
Cash consideration 83,690
Cantingent consideration liability 15,372

99,062

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:
Transaction costs of the acquisition (included in cash flows from

) o (433)
operating activities)
Cash consideration transferred {included in cash flows from
. . . (83,690)
investing activities}
Net cash and cash equivalent acquired with the subsidiary
. . . . . 3,285
{included in cash flows from investing activities)
Net cash flow on acquisition {80,838)

Transaction costs of $765k were expensed and are included in administrative expenses.

As part of the purchase agreement with the previous owner of QA Software Services Private Limited, a
contingent consideration has been agreed. These will be additional cash payments to the previous owners:

The Group agreed earn-out arrangements based on the financial performance of the acquired entity over a
period of time. The contingent consideration arrangement relates to two earn out payments. The first payment
requires the acquired entity to satisfy an EBITDA target as set ocut per the Purchase Agreement. The second
payment requires the acquired entity to satisfy a Revenue target as set out per the Purchase Agreement. The
value of these earn out payments will be impacted by how much actual revenue and EBITDA have exceeded
these criteria.

As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent consideration was estimated to be $15.4 million. As
of July 2021, the first earn out criteria was satisfied and payment was made to the previous owners.

As at 31 December 2021, the key performance indicators QA Software Services Private Limited show that it is
highly probable that the target for the second earn out payment will be achieved.
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Acqguisition of QA Infotech Inc.

On 18 February 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of QA Infotech Inc., a stock corporation
incorporated under the laws of state of Michigan and specialising in software development and testing services,
software maintenance services, technical support and cutsourcing services. The Group acquired QA Infotech
Inc. because of its association with QA Software Services Private Limited and its existing client relationships.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liakilities of QA Infotech Inc as at the date of acquisition were:

Assats Book Value Fair Value
$'000 $'000
Intangible assets — Customer Relationships - 4,760
Trade receivable 1,830 1,830
Bank and cash balances 920 920
Other receivables 10 10
2,760 7,520

Liabilities
Trade and other payables {1,949} (1,949)
Deferred taxation - (1,000)
{1,949) (2,949)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 811 4,571
Goodwill arising on acquisition 8,541
Purchase consideration transferred 13,112

The deferred tax liability mainly comprises the tax effect of the accelerated depreciation for tax purposes of
tangible and intangible assets.

The goodwill of $8.9 million comprises the fair value of expected synergies arising from acquisition. Due to the
contractual terms imposed on acquisition, the assembled and trained workforce is not separable. Therefore, it
does not meet the criteria or recognition as an intangible asset under IAS 38. None of the goodwill recognised
is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition, QA Infotech Inc. contributed $9.4 million of revenue and $0.5 million to profit
before tax from continuing operations of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the
year, revenue from continuing operations would have been $9.8 million and profit before tax from continuing
operations for the Group would have been $1.4 million.
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Purchase consideration 5’000
Cash consideration 1,900
Contingent consideration liability 11,212

13,112

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:

Transaction costs of the acquisition (included in cash flows from operating activities) {433)
Cash consideration transferred {(included in cash flows from investing activities) (1,900)
Net cash and cash equivalent acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from 920

investing activities)
Net cash flow on acquisition (1,413)

Transaction costs of $101k were expensed and are included in administrative expenses.
Contingent consideration

As part of the purchase agreement with the previous owner of QA Infatech Inc., a contingent consideration has
been agreed. These will be additional cash payments to the previous owners:

The Group agreed earn-out arrangements based on the financial performance of the acquired entity over a
period of time. The contingent consideration arrangement relates to two earn out payments. The first payment
requires the acquired entity to satisfy an EBITDA target as set out per the Purchase Agreement. The second
payment requires the acquired entity to satisfy a Revenue target as set out per the Purchase Agreement. The
value of these earn out payments will be impacted by how much actual revenue and EBITDA have exceeded
these criteria.

As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent consideration was estimated to be $11.2 million. As
of July 2021, the first earn out criteria was satisfied and payment was made to the previous owners.

As at 31 December 2021, the key performance indicators of QA Infotech Inc. show that it is highly probable that
the target will be achieved for the second earn out payment.
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Lease liability

The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments to be paid, showing the undiscounted lease
payments to be paid after the reporting date:

2022 2021

$’'000 $’000
Carrying amount of liability due within 1 year 6,673 5,241
Carrying amount of liability due after 1 year 13,829 5,424
Total Carrying amount of liability 20,502 10,665
Due within 1 year 7,613 5,588
Due between 2 - 5 years 14,908 7,388
Due after S years - -
Tota? undiscounted lease liability 22,521 12,976

On the acquisition of Zen Quality Assurance Private Limited and ZenQ LLC in 2022, the Group acquired right-of-
use assets of $6,626k and a corresponding lease liability of $6,626k. The lease liability is unwound in line with
contractual rental payments, with an imputed interest rate of 4.2%. In 2021 with the acquisitions of Comply,
Olenick, Telexiom, QA Infotech Software Services and QA Infotech, the Group acquired right-of-use assets of
$4,694k and a corresponding lease liability of $4,694k. The lease liability is unwound in line with contractual
rental payments, with an imputed interest rate of 2.8%.

Lease receivable

There are 2 leases where the Group is a lessor and these are in relation to offices. The Group classifies these as
finance leases, because they transfer substantially all the risks and rewards from ownership of an asset.

The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments to be received, showing the undiscounted
lease payments to be received after the reporting date:

2022 2021

$°000 $°000
Total Carrying amount of receivable:
Due within 1 year 302 291
Due between 2 - 5 years 462 753
Due after 5 years - -
Total lease receivable 764 1,044
Unearned finance income (20) (62)
Net investment in the leases 744 982
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24. Financial Instruments

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns
while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings disclosed in note 17 after deducting cash
and bank balances), leases, and equity of the Group {comprising issued capital, reserves, retained earnings and
non-controlling interests).

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the
basis of measurement and the bases for recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset,

financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 3.

2022 2021

$'000 $'000
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances 44,506 31,431
Trade receivables 71,946 57,449
Contract assets 18,192 16,589
Other receivables 572 2,399
Lease receivables 744 982
Derivative financial instruments 3,111 -
Total financial assets 139,071 108,850
Financial liabilities
Priority shares 193,587 175,665
Loan notes 130,010 118,416
Bank loans* 460,218 381,959
Employees and other payroll liabilities 15,845 16,366
Accrued expenses 16,640 14,202
Other payables 2,743 4,133
Trade payables 6,235 5,580
Contract liabilities 1,199 -
Lease liahilities 20,502 10,665
Contingent and deferred consideration 8,492 23,530
Derivative financial instruments 869 -
Total financial liabilities 856,340 750,516

*Throughout this note, the bank loans (denominated in USD} are stated before deduction of the loan
arrangement fees of $5,808k {2021: $7,366k).
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24, Financial Instruments (continued}
Fair value of financial instrument

The Group holds derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss including cross currency
forward transactions and an interest rate cap. All instruments are classified as Level 2 of the Fair Value
Hierarchy. Level two fair value measurements use inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the
relevant asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. The fair values of financial assets and liabilities stated at
level two fair value have been determined by discounting expected future cash flows, translated at the
appropriate balance sheet date exchange rates and adjusted for counterparty or own credit risk as applicable.

Earn outs on businesses acquired is a level three fair value which is initially measured based on the expected
future profitability of the businesses acquired at the acquisition date and subsequently reassessed at each
reporting date based on the most recent data available on the expected profitability of the businesses acquired.
There were no transfers between levels for recurring fair value measurements during the year.

Financial risk management objectives

The Group Finance function provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to domestic and
internaticnal financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the
Group. These risks include market risk (including currency risk and fair vatue interest rate risk}, credit risk,
liguidity risk, price risk and cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using natural hedges against these risk exposures.
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity
prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Group’s activities
expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates {see
below).

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the
replacement of some interbank offered rates {IBORs) with alternative nearly risk-free rates {referred to as 'IBOR
reform'). The Group has exposures to IBORs on its financial instruments that will be replaced or reformed as
part of these market-wide initiatives. There is uncertainty over the timing and the methods of transition in
some jurisdictions that the Group operates in. The Group anticipates that IBOR reform will not impact its risk
management and hedge accounting.

Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange
rate fluctuations arise. During 2022, the group has entered into a number of USD and INR cross currency
forwards in order to hedge the risk of adverse movements in the USD and INR foreign exchange rates. The
Group has denominated its borrowings in currencies which match with the currencies it trades in to create a
“natural hedge”.
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24, Financial Instruments {continued)

Sensitivity to movements in foreign exchange rates

For the year ended 31 December 2022, after taking into account the effect of foreign exchange forward
contracts, a movement of the US dollar by 1/10*" of a Shekel and 1 Indian Rupee in average exchange rates
would have decreased profit before income tax by $170k and $25k respectively (2021: $350k and $50k).

After taking into account the effect of foreign exchange forward contracts, if a8 10% strengthening or weakening
of the US dollar had taken place on 31 December it would have increased/(decreased) profit before income tax
and (decreased)/increased equity for the year by the amounts shown below. The impact of this translation is
much greater on equity than it is on profit before income tax since equity is translated using the closing
exchange rates at the year end and profit before income tax is translated using the average exchange rates for
the year. As a result, the value of equity is more sensitive than the value of profit before income tax to a
movement in exchange rates on 31 December and the resulting movement in profit before income tax is due
solely to the translation effect on monetary items. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant.

Impact on profit before tax Impact on equity
+10% -10% +10% -10%
$'000 $’000 $'000 $°000
2022 400 (500) 4,300 (5.300)
2021 900 (1,200) 6,300 (7.700)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
at the reporting date and exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2021 $’000 $'000
Israeli New Shekel 15,670 21,823
Indian Rupee 8,122 2,867
US Dollars* 56,266 621,935
British Pound 9,785 31,422
Euro 13,647 71,582
Other 1,360 887
Total 108,850 750,516
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Assets Liabilities
2022 $°000 $’000
Israeli New Shekel 20,584 22,179
Indian Rupee 12,110 18,080
US Dollars* 81,898 713,803
British Pound 15,213 30,258
Euro 5,983 68,589
Other 3,283 3,431
Total 139,071 856,340

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at floating interest rates.
The Group closely manitors the impact of changing interest rates on the bank covenant and during 2022 has
entered into an interest rate cap derivative in order to hedge the risk of adverse movements in interest rates.

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Group and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers. The Group has adopted
a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obhtaining sufficient collateral where apprapriate,
as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group uses publicly available financial
information and its own trading records to rate its major customers. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is
spread amongst approved counterparties.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical
areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where
appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is purchased. The Group does not have any significant credit risk
exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics.
Concentration of credit risk to any other counterparty did not exceed ten per cent of gross monetary assets at
any time during the year.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the end of the reporting period is $90.1m (2021: $74.0m) with respect to accounts receivable and
contract assets.

The group applies the IFRS § simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. To measure the expected credit
losses, the Group has used historical bad debts and current specific provisions in place as an indicator for the
level of valuation risk the receivables balances are exposed to.
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Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Ultimate
responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has established an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-
term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitering forecast and
actual cash flaws, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Details of additional
undrawn facilities that the Group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk are set out below.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities
with agreed repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. As disclosed in the note 17 the Group uses swap facilities to fix the rate
of interest on its borrowings with lenders. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate curves at the balance sheet date.

The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay.
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2021

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables

Lease liabilities

Other payables

Accrued expenses

Employees and other payroll liabilities
Contingent consideration

Priority shares

Variable interest rate instruments**
Fixed interest rate instruments
Short term bank loans

Derivative financial liabilities
Cross currency forward contracts

Weighted average

effective interest  Less than

rate l1year 2-5years 5+ years Total
% $'000 $'000 5’000 5’000

- 5,580 - - 5,580

2.8 5,241 5,424 - 10,665

- 4,133 - - 4,133

- 14,202 - - 14,202

- 16,366 - - 16,366

- 23,530 - - 23,530
10.0 - - 175,665 175,665
5.9 - - 354,033 354,033
10.0 - - 118,416 118,416
5.9 27,926 - - 27,926
7.73 96,978 5,424 648,114 750,516
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Weighted average

2022 effective interest  Less than
rate 1year 2-5years 5+ years Total
% $’'000 5’000 $’000 $’000
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables - 6,235 - - 6,235
Lease liabilities 4.2 6,673 13,829 - 20,502
Other payables - 2,743 - - 2,743
Accrued expenses - 16,640 - - 16,640
Employees and other payroll liabilities - 15,845 - - 15,845
Contract liabilities - 1,199 - - 1,199
Contingent and deferred consideration - 7,062 1,430 - 8,492
Priority shares 10.0 - - 193,587 193,587
Variable interest rate instruments* 9.8 38,086 - 422,132 460,218
Fixed interest rate instruments 10.0 - - 130,010 130,010
9.2 94,483 15,259 745,729 855,471
Derivative financial liabilities
Cross currency forward contracts - 869 - - 869

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for financial assets and liabilities is subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the
reporting date. The Group has access to financing facilities as described below, of which $206m (2021: $58m)
were unused at the balance sheet date. The Group expects to meet its other obligations from operating cash

flows and proceeds of maturing financial assets.

Financing facilities
2022 2021
$m Sm
Secured bank loan facilities with maturity dates through to 2028
and which may be extended by mutual agreement:
- amount used* 448 382
- amount unused 206 58
654 440
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25, Share based payments

During the peried the group operated a share incentive scheme comprising B, C and D Ordinary Shares in
Quantum Holding Topco Limited. Under IFRS 2, the share-based payments granted must be measured on a
"fair value" basis as at the grant date of the awards and the relevant charge entered into the income statement.
The group also operates a cash settled (phantom) share scheme which is measured at fair value at the reporting
dale and subsequentiy revalued.

As at 31 December 2022 19,710 (2021: 12,384) phantom shares were in issue. The fair value of these shares
have been assessed at $10,643k (2021: $3,307k) using a Monte Carlo simulation model based on a 2 year {2021:
4 year} remaining vesting period from the balance sheet date and an assumption that only 70% will vest. Within
administrative expenses in the income statement there is a charge of $2,545k (2021: $276k)} which represents
the fair value of the scheme being charged straight-line over the remaining vesting period. For the purposes of
accounting treatment the shares are considered to be cash settled. Quantum Holding Topco Limited is
recharging its subsidiaries for the services they have received therefore there is an asset within amounts owed
by group undertakings. Accumulated debtors owing to the company for phantom shares issued are 52,821k
(2021: 5276k). The Group and Company also hold a liability as at 31 December 2022 for phantom shares issued
to employees of $2,821k (2021: $276k).

As at 31 December 2022 4,414 (2021: nil) B Shares, 141,431 (2021: 125,257) C shares and 155,324 {2021:
138,722) D shares were in issue. Within administrative expenses in the income statement there is a charge of
$6,931 (2021: $521k), net of forfeitures, which represents the fair value of the schemes being charged straight-
line over the remaining vesting period of 2 years from 31 December 2022. For the purposes of accounting
treatment the shares are considered to be equity settled. Quantum Holding Topco Limited is recharging its
subsidiaries for the services they have received therefore there is an asset within amounts owed by group
undertakings. Accumulated debtors owing to the company for C shares issued are 58,604 (2021: $3,193).
Accumulated debtors owing to the company for D shares issued are $1,906k (2021: $726k}. Accumulated
debtors owing to the company for B shares issued are 5341k (2021: nil).

Management performed a sensitivity on the current year share-based payment charge by adjusting the
enterprise value assumption used in the Monte Carlo simulation model. Management noted that a 30 percent
decrease in the enterprise value would have decreased the total current year’'s charge to $8,105 (2021: a credit
of 5432k}, net of forfeitures. Alternately, a 15% (2021: 40%) increase in the enterprise value would increase the
total current year's charge to $10,797k (2021: $1,420k), net of forfeitures. This analysis assumes that all other
variables remain consistent.
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The terms and conditions of the grants in 2022 are as follows:

Grant date / employees Method of |Number of Vesting conditions Contractual

entitled settlement (instruments life
accounting

Equity settled award to Equity 4,414 B Shares None Indefinite

employees granted by parent 15,710 C Shares

during the year 20,947 D Shares

(B, C and D Shares)

Cash settled award to Cash 10,385 None Indefinite

employees granted by parent

during the year (Phantom

Shares)

The terms and conditions of the grants in 2021 are as follows:

Grant date / employees Method of |Number of Vesting conditions Contractual

entitled settlement |instruments life
accounting

Equity settled award to Equity 42,038 CShares [None Indefinite

employees granted by parent 44,971 D Shares

during the year

{C and D Shares)

Cash settled award to Cash 12,384 None Indefinite

employees granted by parent

during the year (Phantom

Shares)

There were grants of these shares within the period, therefore we have included a range in the measurement
inputs and assumptions as follows:

2022

C Shares

D Shares

Vesting period

Assumed Risk-free rate
Dividend Yield

Volatility

Fair value of shares

Vesting assumption

Granted in period

Charge for granted in period

2-3 years from grant
1.01% - 4.73%
0.00%

29.2% - 37.0%
$8,901k

70%

19,710

$1,546k

2-3 years from grant
1.01% - 4.73%
0.00%

25.2% -37.0%
$2,034k

70%

20,947

3339k
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2022

B Shares

Phantom Shares

Vesting period
Assumed Risk-free rate

3 years from grant
1.01% - 1.67%

2-3 years from grant
1.01% - 4.73%

Dividend Yield 0.00% 0.00%
Volatility 29.2% - 34.8% 29.2% -37.0%
Fair value of shares $1,150k $5,422k
Vesting assumption 70% 70%
Granted in period 4,414 10,385
Charge for granted in period $340k $609k
2021
C Shares D Shares Phantom Shares

Vesting period

Assumet Risk-free rate
Dividend Yield

Volatility

Fair value of shares

Vesting assumption
Granted in period

Charge for granted in period

4 years from grant
0.11% - 1.26%
0.00%
27.2%-32.9%
$9,413k

70%

42,038

5370

4 years from grant
0.11% -1.26%
0.00%

27.2% - 32.9%
$1,978k

70%

44,971

$152k

4 years from grant
0.11% - 1.26%
0.00%

27.2% -32.9%
$3,307k

70%

12,384

$276k

The expected volatility is based on historical volatility of listed comparator companies.

26. Related party transactions

Group

Balances and transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Transactions between the group and its related
parties are disclosed below. In accordance with FRS 101, the Company has taken an exemption in the
preparation of these financial statements based on the requirements in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, to
disclose related party transactions entered into between two or more members of a group, provided that any

subsidiary which is a party to the transaction is wholly owned by such a member,
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26, Related party transactions (continued)

Group (continued)
Aggregate directors’ remuneration

The Company does not directly remunerate directors and the services of certain Directors are incidental to their
rele and therefore there are no amounts for remuneration included in the table below. The total amounts
payable by the group for directors’ remuneration for services provided by the directors of the parent company
to the company and subsidiaries in the financial period were as follows:

2022 2021
$'000 $°000
Salaries, fees, bonuses and benefits in kind 1,347 1,378
Pension contributions 9 9
1,356 1,387

There are three directors in respect of whose qualifying services shares were received or receivable under long
term incentive schemes (2021: four).

During the year the highest paid Director received remuneration totalling $717k {2021: $403k). One director
was a member of a money purchase scheme. Contributions into the scheme totalled $9k (2021: $9k).

Remuneration of key management personnel

2022 2021
$'000 $7000
Salaries, fees, bonuses and benefits in kind including social security 1,145 1,378
costs
Pension contributions 9 9
Share based payments 2,504 1,412
3,658 2,799

Other related party transactions

During the period the group made foreign currency purchases to the value of $4.5m (2021: $14.8m) from
MoneyCorp which shares the same ultimate parent company and ultimate controlling party as the group. The
transactions were conducted on normal arm’s length commercial terms and there are no outstanding creditors
as at the year end (2021: nil).

in April 2021 Extramed ceased 1o be a related party as it was sold to a third party undertaking. In 2021, the
group made sales of $0.2m to Extramed which shared the same ultimate parent company and ultimate
controlling party as the group. The transactions were conducted on normal arm’s length commercial terms.
There were no outstanding debtors as at the 2021 year end date.
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Group {continued)
Other related party transactions {continued)

On the Consolidated Balance Sheet there are priority shares, loan notes, and accrued interest owed to
Bridgepoint Group Plc, the ultimate parent company and ultimate controlling party of the group. As at 31
December 2022 the group helds $113.3m {2021: $113.3m) in priority shares and $80.0m {2021: $80.0m) in
related party loans owed to Bridgepoint Group Plec. As at 31 December 2022 accrued interest on priority shares
and loan notes amounted to $70.4m (2021: $45.2m). During the year, the total interest expense related to
priority shares and loan notes is $24.0m (2021: $21.7m).

Company

On the Company Balance Sheet there are priority shares and accrued interest owed to Bridgepoint Group Plc,
the ultimate parent company and ultimate controlling party of the group. As at 31 December 2022 the group
holds $113.3m {2021: $113.3m) in priority shares owed to Bridgepoint Group Plc. As at 31 December 2022
accrued interest on priority shares amounted to $41.2m (2021: $27.2m). During the year, the total interest
expense related to priority shares is $514.0m (2021: $12.8m).

27. Controlling party

The Company's ultimate parent company and ultimate controlling party is Bridgepoint Group Plc, a company
incorporated in England.

These financial statements are the smallest and largest group, which include the Company, for which group
financial statements are prepared.

28. Company result for the period

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the company has elected not to present its own income
statement nor cashflow for the period. The company reported a loss of $18.2m for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021 loss: $14.8m).

The auditor’s remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in note 6 of the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors of the company are paid by fellow group companies and their remuneration is included in note
26 to the consolidated financial statements. No recharge is made to the company (2021: Snil). The company
has no employees {2021: nil).
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29. Investment in subsidiaries

2022 2021
$’000 $'000
Cost
At 1 January 140,541 139,541
Investment in period - 1,000
Carrying amount
At 31 December 140,541 140,541

The investment relates to 100% of the share capital of Quantum Holding Topco Limited’s sole directly held
subsidiary Quantum Holding Finco Limited.

The investments in subsidiaries have been assessed for recoverability using the same underlying assumptions
for the goodwill and intangibles impairment review, concluding that no impairment is required.

30. Post balance sheet events

Subsequent to the year end, the Group made an acquisition as it looks to expand its global quality assurance
capabilities.

In February 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Q Analysts, a US-based quality engineering
firm, specializing in Next-Gen technologies. The acquisition expands the Group's US geographical footprint with
new test-labs in California and Washington State, and facilities in key US locations. It also extends the Group’s
presence in the UK, Switzerland, India and Madagascar. This acquisition is expected to increase annualized
turnover of the Group by approximately $75 million. As of the date of these financial statements, the Company
has not yet completed the initial accounting faor the business combination and therefare cannot provide further
disclosures under IFRS3 paragraph B64.

In March 2023 the Group increased its senior revolving credit facility by $20 million from $40 million to $60
million.
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